BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Bailey, Joseph

DATE:
08/18/93
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Pohce (./O'l.lrt____..___z_____DlStrlct

@ity and @onnty }(55 . : . -
of Pelv Pork, ‘ (Fotzrat PRttt 2

: pa =
of No. S22 3 o CAt L3 4L : Street, aged 2 years,
oceupation ¢ / P A being duly sworn.
P Z= .
deposes and says, that the premises No F L3 otk T S Street,

in the City and County afomsazd the said being a___Z_A__Q__,Z./_’a% MW%MM«%

g j@ < c//¢ -614/44/(/“4;/__ ......

and which was WWW M:;L@W_,_

2z 7N .
and in whick there was,at the time a human being,

were BURGLARIOUSILY entered by means of forcibly

Y

7&( Pl et Z/Tz////r.-7/- B LR T o oAl A P R R etttz
7 \
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N N }
vt ottt LD ... LR 2R o P

Jém/fz&&é
Jollowing property feloniously, Jaken, stolefl; and carried awdy, viz

=2 /:Z/Q e

on the & day of WD i yfi n the .. = .{é;%__ time, and the

s
the property of. o @//4//&// 2z PN ///rw/é/a%z,o ot B2l L W
and deponent further says, that he has great cause to believe does belicve, that the aforesaid
A F~<

%«/
BURGIL.ARY wascommitted and the aforesaid property y Laken, stolen, and carried away by

/)()Z/M %"f f/&( / 7 AN %/M} }

T &

Jor the reasons following, to wit : ___ZZpe e Al io precre iy Crresns FFeed _Zoccec
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Sec. 198—200. é > District Police Court.

according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h &5 right to make a state-
ment in relation to the charge against h e ;that the statement is designed to enable heeX,if he
see fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against heel that he is at liberty to

waive making a statement, and that h & waiver cannot be used against h ¢~ on the trial.
Quesiion. What is your ngme ?

Question. d are you ?

_Answer. J%%fm -
Question. Where were you born?

Aunsicer. 7&%6&@

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?

Answer, \_%/}(//

Question. What is your business or profession?

Answer. /gfmm

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testi-
mony against you, and state any faets which you think will tend to your exculpation.

Answer. ( e v 2ee Py //L/c/'c/%” % ZZZQ é/ (//. :,/ e
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the erime therein mentioned Fuas been

comniitted, wnd that there is sufjicient cowse (o belicve the within nanved

gfz:l%hereoﬁ I order that hee be held to answer the same and he be admitted Lo bail ir the sum of

o 2 S Hundred Dollars and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Prison, of the City of New York, until he give such bail.

Dated /////44/44. paIm == 18 7-9’ ( / N / /fl// z/ﬁf Police Jwstice.

I have admitted the above-nanved.

to bail to answer by the wndertalking lrereto annexed.

Dated 18 Police Jistice.

There being ro sufficient cawse to belicve the within named

Swilty of the offence within mentioned. I order Tt 1o be discharged.

Detteed. ..o R 4 ettt et e e e 2 dPOTRCE T1ESTECE,
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Gouxt of General Fesgions of the Reuce

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PEOPLE oF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

against

P

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

late of theé S AWard of the City of %221’1{, in the County of New York, aforesaid, on the
e Ca e AT O

sand eight hundred and ninety- A the G(ei/ —-time of (he same day, at the

ard, @ity and County aimesald a certain building there situate, to wit, the U« el Az g Of

o—c A p— - C/

&,j/wg// ~  in the year of our Lord one

cume therein, to wit: with intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the said
Py —e—e -t in the said Z

en and there being, then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal, take and carry a Q’J
against the form of the statue in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity. C/
2

r/@/w/(/\_//;& A @%W—z/m_ca,
.//\/




BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Baker, Philip J.

DATE:
08/16/83

4821
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Police Court......ie I strict. Amd: nii—L areeny.
Tity and Eounty ) // S

of %nw/‘"aﬂjnxk, §f$° — ///;///9// /§ cf/ﬂ L7 A E

S 22 Aoty oK =2 lyears.

af No.

being duly sworn,

L = the property o ////%/%%7

and that this deporernt
has a probable cause to suspect, and doe Surs%,e/'t that the .s'/a,z,/dy;mjopert./ was felont- ﬂ

\-_//,\/v1

ously talken, stol\tﬁand earried away by L 77 /J : w&/%d /?///’7( //4/f}
2 L = §HL vl e L /%WWJ’ w2 A
Tl il NN e V«Zé/ =l L ééz&{(
c/%&_, %eé/ eeg TG sk :/LZM/.;/
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4759




POOR QUALITY \§

 ORIGINAL

A Mot A AN WL

Lot O

By ar gy

"*—7/ L

_
A e

LE B T ke e ool




g
=
g
S
s
)

Sec. 198—200. ) District Police Court.

Y ) @/
: ’é(/t being duly examined before the nnder-

signed acco;dlnn t(éla,\v, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h right to
make a stagement in relation to the charge ::mzunst I ; that the statement is designed to
enable h it he see fit to answer the charge and explain the fphts alleged against h

that he % liberty to waive making a statement, and that h waiver cannot be uyed

against h on the trial.

Question. W1

Amnswer.

Question. TFow old are yon

Answer. /7 __/é// W

Question. "Where were_you-dorn

Question. Where do you live, and how Jong have you resided there
Answer.

Qrrestion.

Amnswer.

Question. (Hve any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony a@mt you, and state anv facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation £ Fa i
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It appearing to me by the within, Aepositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

comanittied, and that {Teere is sufficient cawse to bcelievl%uithi named
&L %&C/// r//)(/&(z S

s

he be admitied to Dail in the sunw of

wiltyy thereof, I order that he be held to answer the sanve, and

M Hundred Dollars,. =

%& City Pri%t}b City of’ 4 I"m% o7 til
Dated 7 189\_/

I have admitted the ahove-nanurd

2o bail to answer by the undertaking lereto anncxved.

Police Justice,

189

Deted,

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

Suwilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice.
1861




CITY AND COUNTY
~ OF NEW YORK, Ss-.

aged : ears, occupation 6% of No.

—‘_

/(/ //‘Z&Mé / Street duly worn, depos

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit o

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own.

knowledge.

Police Fustice,

“’*\\
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@Conrt of General Hessions of the

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tir ProrrLe or THE SrarTe or Niw Youx \

ctgeinst

iy Q @uu&/

The Grand J .$>0f Ay City and Co m};ty nﬁ;&'—u? York, by this indictment, acceuse
c .

of the CrIME or GRAND LARCENY h* THE ! DRGREE, committed
as follows: ( % ) @
The said ./<"/L/'K// % . e /Qz"f(/\'

P - .
late of ﬂé}j‘\y of New York, in the Connty of New York aforesaid, on the 22U s
day of L Tt in the year of our Lord, one thousand eight hundred and
ninety- -2 the City and Conuty atovesaid, with foree and arme,

Ay e A{z;

Q/%
c/ﬁ/ﬁ %('/Zé/\_ﬂ q,cr_//( P N /Q/C//\

of the goods, chattels and personal projierty Gf one %ﬂ G:—&_/ // \7/1 /L A
g L

e g

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and cary awa V, against

the form of the statnte in such case made and provided. and ugainst(ﬂ)e peace of the People
< e 2

of the State of New York and their dignity / )
/&(( %/w/\w_/ A o
B e D o




BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Barker, John H.

DATE:
08/10/93

4821
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Police Court.. . =— 7 Affidavit—Larceny.

Gity awd Eounty ) L,
of FWew ok, (7

“OCCHPALion being duwly sworn.,

-5 c(e;)os('e and says, that on //Z@..Z/(/ ______ et 189 ‘3(17‘ the City of

‘;_' the property of.

and that this depornent
has a probable cause to suspect, arnd does/su peo%‘rt the said property was feloni-

A%Z//‘/d 2z R %
, %ZMMQ @//d /%{Ca .%/70 /Q//Z% %(
W%ﬂ Htoarrond Zozr Litans. 2 %méwae,
f//mm Ba.ce. i @/z%%é/m B
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POOR QUALITY

ORIGINAL

Jo fivp

U 240,099 1Y

S,
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DNSIL 90

L2 e

District PPolice Coeurt.

Scc. 198—200.

COUNTY ) s

N YORK, §

sS. .
) — T
e / // e
S //J o4 g L <7« being duly examined before  the under-
signed according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h x right to
; that the statement is designed to

make a statement in relation to the charge against Th
seec fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h S~

enable h Ay if The
Q__ waiver cannot be used

that The is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h

against h o__ On the trial.

Question. \Vhy‘bl{l;our name ?
//‘ g i /7
/ ’/(‘“/ 7 rd % ;/C,:Q %t (/ /4 < “/\\_

" C
Answer._- = e

= -

@uestion. Flow old are yon ?

— /‘—_’
Answer. =

Question. Where were you born?

o
Answer. A / ‘T//

Qrestion. Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ?
S

Q/,
Ve T . .
Answer. /( P LR = / Cpt Z o floZ? i %ZT‘ZW;/@

Question. What is your business or profession ¢

= T /
PO, g o / -
Amnswer. A/‘-/ =l L o

Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against youn, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ?

Qreestion.

o ey A




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL |

CITY AND COUNTY ]

OF NEW YORK, [ S% %

ears, occupatlon -
%y rw duly svvorn
says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of#

knowledge.

T

Sworrn to be ? e, phif—"""

’.’ggfg Fustice,




POOR QUALITY |
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Sce. 151. R Police Court i District.

CITY AND COUNTY s In the name of the People of the State of New York; Tu the Sheriff of the
OF NEW YORK, County of New York, or any BMarshal or Police he City of New York:

Whereas, Compla.int in writing, and upo%%mde
New York, byZ

m
the Poli
Street, that on thel. Z% day OF/W

189?%3.{: the City of New York, in the County of New York, the followlno- 'Lrtlcljto w1t
e

suspect and beli
Wherefao C
and bound to answer the said complaint.

These are Therefore, in the name of the PEOPLE of the State of New York, to command

you the said Skeriff, Marshals and Policgsrien, and every of you, to :Lppé'ehend the bod.z

said Defendant and forthwith bring before me, at the DISTRICT POLICE
COURT, in the said City, or in case of my absence or inabilify to act, before the ‘nearest or most
accessible Police Justice in this City, Esw v the said chaxde] and to be dealt with according to law.

Dated at the City of New Xorlk, 1leis T A .. .. Ay ot . F~

..Porice JtrsticE.




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

<

Police Court District.

THE PEOPLE, &o.,

ON THE COMPLAINT OF

The Defendant
taken, and brought before the Magistrate, to
answer the within charge, pursuant to the
command contained in this Warrant.

This Warrant may be executed on Sunday
or at night.

Police Justice.




POOR QUALITY
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‘y District PPolice Court.

Secc. 198-—200.

CITY COUNTY | iy
5 YORK, §°

duly examined before the under-

signed %ccmdlnn to ]LL\\, on Lhc annexed c]mlﬂe; ‘md bmnﬂ- informed that it is h X right to

make a statement in relation to the charge against h “_ ; that the statement is designod to

enable h LY it he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against I Se_

that he is at liberty to waive muking a statement, and that L Q __ waiver cannot be used

against h «__ On the trial.

-

% //:9/- R :
P [ P //_,c_—i\

ke ’
Answer. .~

Qrestion. Fow old are yon ?
)K =
Answer. g

Question. Where were you born?
S
- /_//
Answer. P v
Question. Where do vou live, and how long have you resided there ?

Q/.
//// Id /../ = B e
Answer. A L T i e £ Tt e a2 i —/‘Z‘z.-@r/;//s

Question.  What is yvour business or profession 7
. . -
Answer g D A %/\ P
.72, B / . . S

Question.  Give any explanation you may think proper of the circuinstances appearing in the
testimony against yon, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ?

Answer.

T - N
FE e gt o Tl vl =,

Jo fiop

1 940,20 UBYD]

7

7
Z

OJ///

1

25T 201

‘901
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentisned has been

commitied, and that there is suﬁ“i@u]al; /Qozcse to believe the within named

S .
) P
,/ &Lt gt g e o
=
P

he be admitted to bail in the sum of

Suwilty thereof, I order that e be held to answwer the same, and
gt ///tée]{wndrecl Dollars, ... anid, be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

/ .
sHhe City Pr@%/ the O’ﬁy of Neiww Yorlk, whntil he Sive swch baW _/7
é/’ , - ol P (d / ' ‘—,ﬁ
TS / ( ) - . s, 4/‘/ ﬂ “Police Justice.

Dated=. = == 5 -

.

I have admitted the above-rnamnird

(to Dail to answer by the wndertalking hercto anncxed.

Police Justice.

189

Dated,

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named..

guilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be .discha,r_éed.

Police Justice.
1881
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Gomrt of Gewevnl Sessious of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE ProPLE or THE STATE oF NEW YOoRK

against

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

of the OrmME oF GRAND LARCENY IN THE M DEGREE, commibted

as follows: - . ~ =

The said %’*’* ’\)\,~ w -_—
T - . - . »

late of the City of New York, in the C.ount;y; of New York aforesaid, on the 2 A, R
day of Ikxg\ — in the year of our Loxd one thousand eight hundred and
ninety- y at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one %M,_:,S\ Q\_&,_Q_v\g‘\——*

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and ecarry away, against
the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against. the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity.




BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Barnes, William

DATE:

08/15/93

4821
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POOR QUALLTT iy
on:GlNAl-

Police Court— b District.
@ity and County % 5.0 | b

of Flew JJork, h / W
of INVo. H / /7/ é W / :Z Street, a chﬁ‘% .......... Years,

occupation

betng duly sworn

e

deposes and says, that on the 18 ;lt the City of New

York, in the County of New York,

he was vivlently and feloniously ASSA ULTED and DBEATEN b} M C Q/W

/

uéh the felonious intent to take the life of deponent, or to do him grievous bodily harm; and withowt

any justification on the part of the said assailant

Wherefore this deponent prays thut he said assailant may beapprehended \.fofl bound to answer
for the above assault, etc., and be dealt with according to law. /@7/1/17/0
Sworn to before me, this / / d
—
of Q/v/&— o 1@)% }

7 T /
%Ké’ M ”
L 4 M e \

Police Justice.




Sec. Iss—ooo. District Police Court.

25 el
/‘y Z W being duly examined before the under-

51rrned according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h N\ right to
make a statement in relation to the charge a,ﬂ'a.lnst h ; that the statement is designed to
enable h ™\ if he see fit to answer the charge and exp ain the facts alleged against h _
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that hN\_  waiver cannot be used

against h on the trial.

Question. What/ds your name ?

L Cotm 7’5 corr il

Answer.

Question. How old are you?

P 4 2 “7 T cr?

Question. Where were

you
Answer. Zf&w W .

Question. Where do you live, and how long have you resided #tere ?

Answer. o~ S 5 /S 2 /g’\ ( 2;;%/%@\

Question. What is y business or profession ?2

Answer. Y

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation %

———

a.40/6q uoyny;

sHlp

/

0N 9940
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Department of Public Charities and Correction.
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CITY AND COUNTY
' OF NEW YORK,

occupation........ Nt AT
New York,

@%W

. W‘/WW@

,M‘ it wM
, Y Mu M

e County of

/VVL////LL
/L/WZ/M 7/

Loi", de 0585 and Says

New York

7
M@W el
e e (47/7%//‘“
el 7&%%/%/5'"
WMM

W,/MWA

Wi% P z;i* B




Pohce Comt o D1str101§ ™

I.‘I:IL PDOPLT Dtc

ON llTL COM LAINY OF

707"7%&&5\/&///{/7&/“
S w
. 7790 3

Y Muagistrate.

7 Ofjicer.

Disposition, £~F -7 -
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It appearing to e by the within depositions and staternenlds that e erinue therein mentioned has been
re

comunvitted, ard et there is st /f‘cﬁﬂbl; cogtese to believ
Vi

e/Teeld to answer the same and he

be admitted (o bail in the swnv of:

arnd be committed-to the Warden and Keeper of

“rdgony, of the City " ' ,//%/
) ¥/ y Police Juwstice.
N

/

I have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the wundertalking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated 189

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

.. Suilty of the offence within mentioned. I order h  tobe discharded.

Police Juwstice.




@onxt of Generval Sessious of the Feace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

T Perorne or THE SrTaTik or NEW YORK,

adwinst

\C(J\—L/(/_((/WA i [ 5 Nl

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

/ ’ : )
\é(}/ k/é/gxk. Ot IK) Nl

of the Crive or ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGRELE, committed as follows :

The said \C(,f L/( Lo cn / ANAA_Ler

late of the City and County of New York, on the -——. A kk/(/f{ e day of

— C 1 7 e/ : in the year ol our Lord one thonsand eight hundred and
ninegy- \_/(/Vb(b ~— , at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon one

) J—
\{él—c \L///(f‘e/' /) /u/w/?
and wronginily

in the peace of the said People then and there being, flelontdusly did wilfnlly :
did make an assault ; and the said li R _;j/w,y

with a certain y’élbu-%ﬂ/ N . 5 which /(1/ the said
CU-L/Z/(A_ CAAAA_ _/A‘) AN Ly [

.
in ~ A-/u ~ right hand — then and there had and held. the same being then and there

n weapon and an instrument lilkkely to procduce grievous bodily h-u-m, e o the said

. j N /'.v O"UM/C then and there feloniously did wiltully and
wrongfully strilfef beat / C’A/g/// ﬂ/@’/ Freme and wound, against the form of the statute
in such case mftde and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York

and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

(/\4_‘_0\/(/(‘0\/‘.4« /3 [ A g

of the CrRINE oF ASSAULT IN THE SECOND DEGRER, committed as follows :

The said M Y / ALY

late of the City and County aforasaid, afterwards, to wit: On the day and 111 the year aforvesaid,
at the City and County aforesaid, in and upon the said

\)‘Q/‘/T/I/

" R in the peace of the sald People thgn and there being, feloniously
did wilfully and wrongfully make anotlier assault; and the said g_,Q,&,ou,«_\ j AN LG

the said \/@ <L (/ / ,MAJéf\
with a cclt‘un\ /4)/1/0\ ”

which A{/ ’ the said %UJ./Z/Z‘MW , // .:)} C ALy e =TT

right hand then and there had and held, in and upog the ~»UEQ. /(//
of /Lu.zL the said SILNGCCS 7 fecad,
then and there feloniously did wilfully and wrongfully strike, beat, Cu17 f(—(/ - / .
brmdse and wound, and did then and there and by the means mfmes'ud feloniously, wilfully
and wrongfully inflict grievous bodily harm upon the said b,} L / D et (/
e to the great damage of the said L’{j L :

< /.) ol
against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the p/euce of the
People of the State of New York and their dignity.

D LANCEY NICOLL, District Aillorney.




} BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Beiersdorf, Otto

DATE:
08/08/93

4821
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Police Court—

@ity and Connty % .
of el Pork, h

i which was o cupzed by deponent as «

and in which there was at the time « human being, by nam

on the 18 % LG~ time, and the

Jollowing property felonwusly tak/ stoler,

t]w p? operty of ... / 7 : . S
and deponent jm t/wr sayh, that he has great cause to belicve, and doe.s belicve, that the aforesaid
BURGLARY opumnitied %;q aforesaid property tgken, stolen and carried away by
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District,
Magistrate.

7 S

~o
-~

NS
....to answer General Sessions.

THE PEOPLE, é.,
on the complain of

e

Police Court

Witnesses,

No.
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4 ORIGINAL

CITY AND COUNTY)
OF NEW YORK, - { 5%

bl
aged (1? / yearsy occupation / WW\ of No.

// —— W*VA Street, being duly sworn, deposes and

says, that he has heard read the foregoing affidavit of 7/ L2314 s, /%ﬁty &(

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent dare true of deponents own

knowledge.

v
i

CPolice Justice.




POOR QUALITY
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i

Sec. 198—200. : . Distriect Police Couxt.

mbeing duly examined before the undersigned

according to law, on the annexed charfe; and being informed that it is  h - vight to make a state-
\ <

ment in relation to the charge against h—~—— that the statement is designed to enable L-~—il he
see fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged agninst h—~——s that he is at liberty to
-

waive making n statement, and that h 9 waiver caunot be used against  liw~on the trial.

Question. What is your nane ?

. .
Answer. th(/w W
How old are you?

Question.

Arswer. / M

Question. Wh ‘e wefe you born?

Answer. TN

Ruestion. Where do yon live, and how long have you resided there ?
Answer.

Question.

Answer,

QJuestion. ive any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the tosti-
mony against you, and stabe any facts which you think will tend to your exeulpation.

-~
Answer.

"92198MpP 292904 T
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It appearing to ma by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has been

"‘Eb77b77bitlmat there is sufficient cawse to believe the within named

Hundred Dollars, _.._ Keeper of

7
7%,

S Police Justice.
[/

Dated

I have admitted the ahove-nanued

.o bail to answer by the wndertaking lLercto anncxed.

Police Justice.

Deated, 189

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named

Suilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h %o be discharded.

Police Justice.
1881
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Gourt of Genernl Sessions of the Reace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

THE PROPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

adainst

&%ng %zm/cz//(m-\fz(

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

of the CriME oF BURGLARY IN THE THIRD DEGREE, committed as follows :

"1
~ ’l

The said A / )& 'e,

late of the / #% ‘Ward of the City of New Yoy, in the County of New York, aforesaid, on the
= C N in the year of our Lord one

e o
thousand ei(g/h undred and ninety-"mﬂ" in tlle \*L;Z time of the same day, at the

Ward, City and County aforesaid, a certain building theresi ate, to wit, the /@C;__;% of

S

one )/,/4/%
/
7,
. . T ——
N

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, with intent to commij me

crime therein, to wit: with intent the goods, chattels and personal property of the said ’*’)’44/7/\\\
in the said m '

then and thepe being, then and there feloniously and burglariously t6 steal, take and carry away,

against the form of the statue in such case made and pfbv’ided, and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity.




POOR QUALITY
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SECOND COUNT—

And the Grrzuld"Jurv aforésdi(‘i by this indictment, further accuse the said

\/ %é‘ (%z/o/é(/r /\

of the CrrinmE or™ ‘L«w@a( LARCENY & % %cfw/ “/’7’ w/l’commltted as . follows:

The said W_.. .
-

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the yearafore-

sald, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the 27,57 /// time of said day, with forceand arms,

/‘/7*%/\. dﬁwé//’ R —é/i\/(‘/’l ) —7&{/(/\‘/(2&4«/ N —’CQ//Z,?
//%é' \1/\/4/4/( 4{{/ “4:& g2 M{«/\ o _./éq,é//\

there situate, then and there being found, in the - WA e . — ~
aforesaid, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute

in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the Peop]e of the State of New York

and their dignity. /




BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Bender, Isaac

DATE:
08/15/93

4821
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POOR QUALITY |
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Police Court... . . g“ Distarict.

@ity and Counhy ul
of Sew Hmk,

of No... % f) / &é 7

OCCUPRELON o el LA A A K{ AL/ being duly sworn.

deposes day o/(%é’/m,évzsoz .6 //90 City of

New ¥ 0/ ke, ire th e Cownty of New Yoz 70%({,%/7?0/”71/ tecleery, stolen andd corr ze(i/) QIUay

S om, /he 7)095%0/ deponant in th _%__.tim,e, the /%owing‘ property, viz

)
T

s
-,

¥ ,/9() 0 U

. the 70;097 /‘QM&—/%%Q/
W0 s
\\ (%K7%M (?‘//ﬁ‘;—

and that this deporernt

153 a probable cause to suspect, and does uspect, that the sa;td pr opertJ was feloni-

\‘ owsly takm stolen and capried couayylﬁ /{/%— /Q// /’f//'
3 % j’M //@% LEle.. caz é ............

'
f
b
X
>
oud
(Vo]
<t
L
N
s
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£t appearing to me by the within depositions and statenients tlhat the crime therein mentioned lias been

comznitted, and that there is sufficient cause to belicve the within named

Luilty thereof, I order that e be held to answer the same, and 7ie be admitted to bail ir the swnw of

and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

she City Prison of the City of New Fork, until he give such bail.

Dated, e Police Justice.

£ have have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the wndertaking hereto annexed.

There being no sufficient cause to believe the within named.......

Guilty of the offense within meniioned, I order N

to be discharded.

Datec... oo SRS & ¥ ¢ v Police Justice.
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POOR QUALITY |
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Sec. 193—200.

&1 District Police Court.

CITY AND COUNTY

enable h_.,
that The
against h

Question.
Answer.
Question.
Answer.
Question.
Answer.
Question.
Answer.
Question.

Answer.

Question.

OF NEW YORK,
\(/ / )/k\j
" k// 27522 2 o fo being duly examined before the under-

Lmned according to law, on the a,nnexed charge ; and bemo informed that it is h—» J 11trht to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h_ ~; that the statement is designed to

. if he see fit to answer the charge and exi)\Ialn the facts alleged against Ir 4,
R
is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h _ /Wa,lvel cannot be used

“Zan lon the trial.

What is yowr name ?

@Zg//a’ & & /%//ﬂ’é/\ -

How old are you ?
Where were you born ?
L <
/ 2ef ok & E
‘Where do you live, and how long have you resided there ? (
=z 2 e 2 %@%W% o7 ¢ =4
What is your business or profession ?
L2 e .
(%/’2 L2zl ey

Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

exculpation ?




POOR QUALITY
.~ ORIGINAL

posicoremr ety

1317
See. 151. Bistrict.

CITY AND COUNTY In the name of the Leople of the State of New Yori 5 A the Sherif of the

OF NEW YORK, 58. County of New York, or m;g///"l[m‘slml or Policeman of the City of New York:

Whereas, Complaint in writing, and upgm oft] 2 Byis heen mads he (?A e rsigned; ofie of
the Z%olice .ﬁ(sfzcﬁc%ﬂ City of New Youk, by .z LA ¥ <
of No.. .= 7 £ .

18@ thﬁ' of New Yourk, in the County of New York, the following article, to wit -

of the value oi//%
the %Jé'operty (o) 747 7 24
w. € taken, stolen and carried aw: , ad as the said Complai 1t has ca}s&to suspcctc, anddoes

suspect and believe, by........ |
as prayed that the said Defendant may be apprehiended

Wherefore, the said Complainant h
and bound to answer the said complaint.
These ‘age Therefore, in the iﬁe of the PEOPLE of the State of New York: to commana

you the said b'/zcﬂ";gﬁ', Marshals and Poli nen, and every of you, t 7 of the

said Defendant and forthwith bring Jbefore me, at the j DISTRICT POLICE

COURT, in the said City, or in case of my absence or inability to aet, before the nearest or most
accessible Police Justice in this Cif)‘,‘ﬁtp_ answer the said el and to be dealt with aceording to law.

ac,
Datecd ct the City of New Torlk, tlic. . £/ R

I
43

@4@ z w , ;
A A o TPoLIcr JUSTICE-




POOR QUALITY
ORIGINAL

Police Court District.

THE PEOPLE, &o.,

ON THE COMPLAINT OF

Warrant—Larceny.

....................... B MaFistrate.

The Defendant
taken, and brought before the Magistrate, to
answer the within charge, pursuant to the

- Officer.$

This Warrant may be executed on Sunday
or at night.

Police Justice.
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned Tas been

comnitted, and that there is sufficient @a to beligve the within named
7 >

L . o
C

that he be Ield answer the same, and

I order lie be admilted to bail i1 the sum of
, .......... Hundred Dollars,..... . Pherden and Keeper of

the City Prison of the City of New Yor ke, until

Dated,..... [ //,/// 189,75

P

- Lolice Justice.

I have have admitted the above-narmed

to bail to answer by the undertalking hereto annexed.

Dated, e Police Justice.

There being no sufficient cawuse to believe the Within nanved. ...
.............................................................................................. guilty of the offense within mentioned, I order . to be discharged.

=

(S £ 3 2 Police Justice.
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o o3t Kt e o

Courtof General Sessions

The People &c on ny come
Plaint,
-5 -

Isaac Bender

I,the undersigned,complainant against Isaac Bender,éo hereby
respectfully ask that this Court deal leniently with the defen
dant herein and that this Court will permit the charge made
against the defendcont to be withdrawn,

I respecifully say that I am actuated in my reguest by an
honest desire to see him released and that the comp lainants
are receiving no advantage becuniary or otherwise by reason of
this request and that the following reasons arg assigned by me

That I am the president of the society who has made the come
plaint against t.e 'defenda.nt,a.nd as its representative I made
the complaint under a misapprehension;that the books of the
society have been examined since this complaint has been made,
the accounts of thne defendant have peen compaxred and it has

been ascertained that an entry of $25.,00 was not made among

the receipts of the treasurer,this defendant,and that said ene

try if made would have shown the resceipt of the aforesaid
amount and this amount was only money which the defendant hime
self had paid in to the society as a deposit as security for
the faithful discharge of his duties as ireasurer, The money
was his own and there appears to be no other deficiency,.

I have been acqaminted with the defemdant a number of years,
during that time I have always known him %0 be an honest and

‘hard working man,during his office as treasursr of the society




POOR QUALITY |
, ORIGINAL |

S

- -

he has held monies in his possession for which he has always .
accouBlted and he never appro:pria.ted.any to his own use;l anm
assured that when he went to Chicago he went to get work and
I know of my own knowledge when he returned that he at once
somght me in order to give an account of whatever transactions
existed betwesen him and the oragnization,l feel .satisfied that
he is entirely innocent of any intention to commit erime and
L am also satisfied that he pommitted no wrong she hasalwmys
been an honest man and I therefore ask that I may be a.llowéd

to withdraw the charge. g __g»(/:‘/ @7
@ A

Dated New York August 17th 1893,

City and County of New Yoek Ss:

%W W JFaceb - Potlamek being duly sworn says,

that he is the complainant hersin and has heard read the above

petition and knows the contents thereof and that §he same is
true to his own knowledge, %M—// W%

sworn to before me this

17th day of August 1893,
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POOR QUALITY
 ORIGINAL

@ourt of General Sessions of the Rreace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

against

A
\
TH: ProrLi oF THE STATE ofF NEwW YORK (‘

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse
of the OnrmMe oOF *~_ LARCENY, > ¥ Naeome s Ag— , committed

as follows:

The Sai(‘l% mMMM--V —

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the L-QK
day of %Mﬂ ¢ in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

ninety- e, at the City and County aforesaid, being then and there ¢the- _o

-
and as such S D~yem— o= w then and there having in his

possession, custody and control certain goods, chattels and personal property of the said

S e e RO R e S N Tl TN, PO\ P
the true owner thereof, to wit: 23 _ N N KN\&N N

e S e A e ?\D‘“‘N’E\ s
N P SN S D S, P, I RS UGN

>

. e AL oS e e X (R

S =D o e

-

the said %__o;__% SN ————e afterwards, to wit:

on the day and in the year aforesaid, at the City and County sforesaid, with force and arms,

did feloniously appropriate the said

e Sy ~—— ——

to Lis own use, with intent to deprive and defraud the s2id ™~ i Oers e P mn ot~
of the same, and of the use and benefit thereof; and the same goods, chattels and personal
property of the $aid N o~ o e Rl o D
did then and there and thereby feloniously steal, against the form of the statute in such case
made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their

dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Attorney.




BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Benneway, Frederick

DATE:
08/16/93

4821
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Police Court

CITY AND €
or .\-x,\V ‘x

of & Ll zzeont %—M el .. - Semset, WJJ/&«» PecaticeZioe ~Ghrzsecer,
being duly sworn. deposeth and saith, that on the /\j “r . day ()f%%%_
in the Ceounty

18&3 . at the _Qz_q_{, . Ward of the City of New Yorf
e Fe Fozean celload, B Ltk e I

of New York, LJvas feloniously uken stolen. and carried away, from the person of deperent

by force and vxolence. without his consent and against his will, the FOLLowING PROPERTY. \Vix:

—

of the value of._. é% e S———_ - DOLT.ARS,

the property of

and that this deponent has a probable cause to suspect, and does suspect. that the said property

was feloniously taken, stolen, and carried away, by force and violence as aforesaid by

&
s .
=
=~ @
L&
3
:.:
Y =
N
f\
NN
3
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3
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=

X

~8

<T-22,
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Sec. 198—200. : District Police Court.

@ity and @oxty of Wewr Woxrh, ss:

%J@&(’MC ............... A BBl ALRHTHECY . DOIDE Auly examined before the undersigned
according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h <5 right to make a state-
ment in relation to the charge against h *~~ ;that the statement is designed to enable h<e~—if he
see fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against he~s that he is at liberty to

waive making a statement, and that h+-'> waiver cannot he used against ©h —won the trial.

Question. What is your name ?

L]
Answer. “‘%{%%{ ﬁmféwv?
Question. How old are you ?
Answer. <‘—& W -—

Question. Where were you born ?

Answer. %%‘A % m

QQuestion. Where do you live, and how long have you resided theve ?
. . / —
Answer. <£2 J é /Z— S P2 ' < %W

Question. What is your business or profession ?

Answer. %M

QQuestion. Give any explination you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testi-
mony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.

Answer. Q%M /L{/{%’ m %9‘/‘?6/
A |

“;4(%% <
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Tt appearing to me Ly the within depositions cend statements that the erimee therein mentioned heas been

convinitted. «red that Lhere is swfficient cowse to belicve e witivin neinved. W" Lttt ey e S

Guilty thereof, I order that he be held to answer tive same and he be admitied to bail irn the sun of

it and be commiitted to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Priébn, of the City of New Yorlk, until he Zive swel bail.

Dated %;’/4 P LB/ @ 17 yg //D% Q/?/é/ q/%‘z/r/z/éi Police Justice.

I have adm.itted the above-named.

to bail to answer by the underialking Juereto anneaxedd.

Deated. 18 ... Paolice Jistice.

There being no sufficiens cawse to Lelieve the within named.

Swilty of tle offence within nventioned. I order e to he discharged.

Dated ... ... PPolice Justice.
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COURT OF GENERAL SESS10NS OF THE PEACE,

City and County of New ¥York.
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The P eople,
Before,

vs.
HON. RUFPUS B. COW1NG,

FREDER1CK BENNEWAY.

and a Jury.
SEYP AP TR LT BP AR OR AP TR ONY 4 0 1 OURP CF YR AP UF AR RR AP UR U0 AR %P MR WY WP

Tried, SEPTEMBER 11TH, 1893

Indicted for ROBBERY, in the SECOND DEGRERE.

indiectment filed AUGUST 16TH, 18%93.

APPEARANCES:

ASSISTANT DISTRICT ATTORNEY GUNN1ING S. BEDFORD,
For THE PEOPLE.

MR. JAMES W. McLAUGHL1N,

For THE DEFENCE.
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HENRY i KAHRS, THE COMPLA1NANT, being aitily sworn, testified that he

lived at Greemport, Westchester county. On the
13th of August, 1893, he was in New York. About
12 o'clock on that night he met the defen dant, On
Seeond avenue, near the Harlem Bridge. He, the
canplainant, was driving on Second aveme, and his
horse fell down. A good many young fellows helped

him to get the horse up again, and he wanted to :
|

treat them for the troable, but they said, "Oh, that
is all right; you go on home; we don't want to be

treated." The defendant jumped in the back of his

!
!
i
!
i
i
H
!
H
H
!
i

wagon, and told him he lived in West Farms, and for

him to do him a favor and take him home. He said to;
the defar dant, "All right, you can have a ride with |
me; 1 liwve in Union port, but 1 can drive through 1
West Farms." When they were in White's lahe, the 1
defendant jumped off the wagon and sa‘id, “Now, young.’!
fellow, 1 have got youa; either you give me your |
money or ) put a bullet through youx» head." He

gave the #e fendant between eight and nine dollars,

all the money he had; he put it on the seat of the

wagon, and the defe: dant took it. He said to the




i
defendant, "A decent robber always giwes a man ten %
i

cents, for a drink."” The defendant said, "You go to
hell,” and then the officer arrived upon the scene.
The officer s aid, "What did he do to you?" He said,:

"He robbed me," and then the defendantt ran away.

in cross-examination the complainant tes-
tified that he did not know whe ther the defendantv
was one of the men who helped him to get his horse
up again or not. He, the conmplainant, was sober at
the timee. The de fendant did not draw any revolver,
but he put his hand in his pocket, as if he were
about to draw one. He had not made any agreement
with the defendant to the €ffect that he would give
the defendant $1.50 to take him on his road, on ac-
count of his condition. He had not revovered any of;

his money.

OFF1CER JOHN FRUlLCHTEN1GHT, being duly swomm, testified that he

was on duty on the morning, of the 13th of August,
1893, near White's lane. He arrested the defendant

about 1:30 in the mom-ing, on Prospect averme. The

defendant was running at the time. He, the witness,
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was going through the 1 ane and he heard some talking
and a wagon stopping. He was on horse-back. The
defendant ran away when he saw him. ln consequence
of what the @&empla inant told him, he followed the

de fendant and arrested him. When he caught the de-

fendant he asked hin what he had been doing, and the
defendant said, "Nothing." He asked the defendant
why he was running, and the defendant said he hai
had some trouble with a farmer. He searched the de-
fendant, but did not find anything on him. He
found $1.60 on the road, where the defendant had
been running. When he took the defendant back to

wher® the complainant was, the complainant said,

"VYes, that is th‘e man; he robbed me." The defendant

said that the complainant had promised him some

money fo'r helping him with the horse, and then the
canplainant refused to give him the money, and he
threatened to hurt the complainant, if he did not
give him the moneya”/

in ceross-exanination the witness testified
that the deferdanitt did no: say how much money the

complainant had promised hinme The defendant told him
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that he lived at 323 East 121lst street. He had made
some investigation, and had found that the defend~-
ant did live there, and that he was a hard-working

man.

FOR THE DEFENCE, JOHN KANE, being duly sworn, testified that he

lived at 1,503 Park avenue. He knew the de fendant,
and had known him about fi ve years. He knew others
who knew the defendant. He knew the defendant's

general reputation for honesty in the neighborhood.
The de fendant was employ=d by Mr. Scherb, a black-
smith. On the night in questi on he remembe red see-
ing the canplainant at 121st strest and Third aveme.

The complainant had a load of pears in his wagone.

The complainant promised the defendant $1.50 if he

would take him ham=. Then the complainant said he
had no moneye. After hearing the complainant say
that he had no money, the defendant got into the
canplainant's cart and went along with him. The

complainant did not offer to treat.

THE OFF1CER, being recalled by the Foreman, testifisd that the com-
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FREDER1CK BRERNEWAY, THE DEFENDANT, being duly sworn, testified, in

plainant was not drunk on the night in gquest ion.

his own behalf, that he hal never been convicted of
any offence. He met the complainant, on the night
in question, at 1l21lst street and Third aveme, and
. |
the canplainant asked him to take him home. The ccrm?
plainant was very drunk at the time. The complain-
ant told him he would pay him $1L.50, and when they
got to White's lane and Westchester road the com-
plainant said he would not pay him. 1ile told the

caoanplainant that he would smash him in the mouth,

if he did not give him the moneye. Then the corrxpla.in—JI

ant laid $1.60 on the seat of the wagon, and he took)

it and walked away. The officer went after nhim, and

i
grabbed him. He did not threaten to shoot the com- |

plainant, if the complainant 4id not give him the
money.

In cross-—examinati cn the defendant testi-
fied that he dropped the money when the policeman
shouted to him that he would shoot him ifhe did not

stop. He ran because he wanted to get home b ef ore
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SCHERB,

1 o'clock. He hal said in the Police Court that he
was guilty; but at that time he did not know the

differenee between guilt and innocence.

being duly sworn, testified that he was a horse-

shoer. He knew the defendant , and had known h im
over ten years. He knew other people who knew the
defendant. The defendant's general reputation in
the neighborhocod in which he lived was good. The
defendant hai collected money for him, and haid al-
ways returned with iﬂ:,»." He had always trmsted the

defendant.
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Tt appearing to me by the within depositions wnd statements that the erinve therein meentioned heas been

-

. , . s I g s -
convinitted, and tlat there is swfficient couse o belicre the witivin n(t7/1.(’(7‘.‘.......‘.@{&&&&/ ; <

be held to answer the same and he be admitted to bail in the sum of

guwilty thereof, I order that he
j/ S P B Ao IIundred Dollars and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Priébn., of the City of New Tork, wntil he Zive suel bail.

Dated @/»4/‘ LA & 17 yg //D% CZ/D& M//ﬁ/& Police Justice.

I Ivave adm.itied the above-named.

to bail to answer by the undertalking lrereto annexed.

i8 ....Police Justice.

Dated..

Tlvere being no sufficient cause to belicve the within neaned

Suwilty of tie offence within mentioned. I order 7t o be discharsed.

Deetoed oo - Police Justice.
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@Gourt of Genernd Sessions of the Lewce

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Ture PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

against

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse
— , .
of the CRIME oF ROBBBRY in the yee= s~ degree, committed as follows:

The said :SW ‘\Mw—&a\)\(. '/

late of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on them-_n/\‘%.\_

day of — , in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

vinety- ML , in then;hn?.& time of the said day, at the City and County aforesaid,

with force and arms, in and upon one &QM\ R PR, I )
in the peace of the said People them and there being, feloniously did make an assault; and

of the goods, Ch‘l.t els and personal property of the said N\—QMM'\( w\’\h s T

afrom “the pelson “of the _said '_b"‘\ﬁa’—'*"‘-\c Yo D against the will

a,nc'l by he Sa:ld. M w P )
tﬁen§and there v1olent1y and feloniously did % st%al take and ecarry away,

e

o

4

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity.




BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Benton, James D.

DATE:
08/10/93

4821
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Police Court..... <7

Gity J and Gounty |
of T Yok, ‘5 e

ef, aged ST Lo vears,
(128 671(7,// SICOrI,
18’) at the City of

New Yorle, in the County of New York, was feloniowsly tafen, stolen and corried auway

Jrome the possessior of a"eponent in Mﬁéinze, the following property, viz .
7;:;&/.4 @M Vi 2> /@W»;& ? . .

hras a probable cawse to suspect, and do

ously talken, stolen and carried away &

Dhite. frdias, /ﬂm P /4@/4 2

4759
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CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

e it it v 2 >

says, that he has heard read the égoing affidavit’o

and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of deponent’s own

knowledge.

Police Fefstice.
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See. 1958—200.

CITY AXP COUNTY ) ) .
or N VORK, % .
MO ...being  duly examiined before  the under-

Nfred according to luw, on the annexed charge : and being informed that it is h right to

malke a statement in relation to the charge against  nh ; that the staterent is designed to

s

enable h it he see 1it to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h
that he is at liberty to waive muliing a statement, and that h waiver cannot be used

against h on the trial.

Qreslion. /\/ 1t is vour 'f %

Anstwer £9 ‘ M\/
Question.  Tlo

Answer. /

Question. W

Ansrwer. /

Question.  Wherg do you live, and how Jong have you resided there ?
. g s
Answer. / Y 2 ?L/ é o
-
Qreestion.  What
Answer.

Qreestion.  (xive any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony against you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation? :

Answe ) /%Wz A M &7‘4
éy—%f%/ Zo
 Gtann,
(-
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and st. ‘ements that the GWH/ mentioned has been

committed, ard that there is sufficient cause to believe the within named

of/the C’it%f New York, until he i

— / 1@93

=]

I have admitted the ahove-ranied..

.20 bail to answer by the undertaking hereto anncxed.

Police Justice.

Dated, 189

There beitnng no sufficient cause to believe the wilhin named

guilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be discharded.

Police gf wstice.
1881
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oyt of Gewernl SFessious of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUXTY OF NEW YORK.

Tur ProrLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORK

wdainst

) . % - .
C }(/ e Vi‘(//- (/d@-wv’”@“‘»’\)

The Grand (J- wry of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

K— ) CTee - CoD 9<O \sﬁcaq//
of the CRI\IL‘ OF GBA\D LARCENY IN THE _ d.C-C. o= R DEGRERE, committed

as follows: I .
g L,j re
The said /[C//‘/"Z/L——C S L . >L M /’I/(/"‘\_} o
( 7 >

late of the Clty of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the ,/er/é— jz(,é,<

« .+ ~ » in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred—and

\/_ at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

7

Coon ,\_/,,»f.‘_., j— - (;;, / L—&\_ S '/L-»AL__(’ // : Zj,/xc.-,/‘_/@ &(//‘«&;(_,V’\\)
Lép(/c// y \2\&&—« T2 ‘—"(/N-(’»’L//Z" e éé, 2 ‘6(/6«/ J/d/ . F <. //A
é(tL ( - ’\_/O/ b S B G/ AN R Y ‘Z/ /é’i Al D€ C}’C(

Yo € é((‘-/ﬂ_/, CC&’“Z(//L \)) oree OC( SR L,m..///‘/

ﬁ /Z\Kg L(,'?(/é_k_( P %1,@ . (/L/JZ S s R R ,r L
%, /_M/é{z)m / é e o e = - @&Z,,
. 2. /A

/l,(/ ' < /c/@_/-z/& \V/(/Cc“( 4 é/
: e / &/ éu c,/}(/év/«
//;U\Q Lol o Z;j s / 0~ <. Al g Tk oy %/L/"
""’4 e A /Ce/vv f ~7 \V‘a/é/g/(// -/P' Crts “.w%
of the goods chattels zmd per 2l p 1)e1ty ot one
Alnn ‘/}/ V/Cc V%d/(,c,&

then and there being found, then and there felomiously did steal, take and carry away, against

the form of the statute in such cage made and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity. ‘/{2( g
- ‘,/c,/yz/c / / (/c/@o/é/




BOX:
529
FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Bergman, Harry

DATE:

08/08/93

4821
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Police Court— : District.
@ity and ('Lo.untg%
o A 88.:
of e FPork,
oFf No... /LB (
being duly sworn

occupation. ... g
deposes and says, that the premises No. L. 5/ Street, . /& : Ward .

he City and Gounty aforeswid the said being a. .z

.
) T2 '
the property of.... ’(/éd’@b//&(
e 5
und  deponent further siys, that he huas greas canse to helicoe, and docs belicoe, that the aforesaid

BURGL.ARY wus conunitted and the aforesaid property taken, stolen and carried away OY
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Sec. 198-—200. District Police Court.

.

CITXY)AND COUNTY

; VORK, } @
M/Z{/ Z/ﬂ Lol Ay being duly examined before the_under-

slgned a,ccmdlt{cr to law, on @é annexed charge; and being mform‘?\tt that it is h right to
make asgtatement in relation to the charge against h ; that the _statement is deswned\to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explam the factsfalleged against h J
that he 35 aff liberty to waive making a statement, and that h waiver cannot be used

against h \ on the trial.

Question. g t i yordr name ?

Answer. ) W’&7 &%&&/&/\_ﬁ

Question. How old are you ?

Answer.

Question.

Answer.

Question.

Answer.

Question.

Amnswer.

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony against~you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
exculpation ?
/
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It appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime therein mentioned has Leen

committed, and that there is sufficient cawse to beZieve%:ithin named

gzoilty.thgreof, I order that he be held to answer the sdhe, and Ie be admitted to bail iy the sum of

=" 2 and be committed to the Warden and Keeper of

the City Prison of fhe City of New Tork, until he Zive such bail.

_Daiecl,// /ﬂ/fic‘/g/"/&—%y —..Police Justice.

&

v Police Justice.

...................................... guilty of the offense within mentioned, I order I to be discharged.

Dated,...... ... ... .. ISR £ £ ¢ e e . Police Justice.
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Gonrt of Geweral Sessions of the FLeace

OF THE CITY AND COUXTY OF REW YORK.

Tue PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK

against
‘ (/74/1/ 7 @@/ =
= J

The Grand Jury of the City and County of Xew York, by this indictment, accuse

of the CrinmE or BURGL.ARY inC C o ot degree, committed as follows :

The sai dY/ (7 @‘/ﬂ/ /W/——,/w_/""

late of the /d % Ward of the City of Nefyj York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the

4%014/ p-—bw/% day of e % in the year of our Loxrd one
thousand eln'h undred and ninety- EM in the ~;%/

time of the same day, at the

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, there being then and there a
human being within the said dwelling house, w ith intent to commit soLe %ﬁne therein, to wit: the

goods, chattels and personal property of the said (,’C/é ~ 2
(_,.

Ward, City and Countx a,f01e';fud the dwelling house of one

in the said dwelling house then and there being, then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal,

take and carry away,

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity.




POOR QUALITY
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SECOND COUNT—

And the Grand Jury aforesaid, b)@dutmeut further accuse the said

@d e T committed as follows :
"'7 2 [ Sy Y

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, fo wit: on the day and in the year aforesaid,
at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the—j’z}c 2./ -time of the said day, with force and arms,
7

7/ 4

4 -
&Cf—'%,/‘b Y J e ot s A ’\.._,Q,\“'V\-m/é/(
S/ =
/ P W 4 %/‘/ZQM P . /f( e vs %M s —Z/e

~ g/ —/‘/“2/4-4 c Y

,-/\ B oy
of the goods, chattels and personal property of one% (}f/&//{’/\c_’_
in the dwelling house of the said @Z %(/
v

there situate, then and there being found, from the dwelling house aforesaid, then and there felon-
iously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute in such case made and provided,

and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

e DZW/
AN 7 Oéé%




BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Bernstein, Samuel

DATE:
08/09/93

I




BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Spiro, Harry

DATE:
08/09/93

i
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Police Court— /District.

-

@ity and (,onmn /

of Fete Pork, % /
of No. A 2 %W )
occupation %—%’/ ('. z

deposes and says, that on the - ey 7. 189~at the City of New

Affidavit—ILar ceny,

being duly sworn.

York, in the County of New York, was feloniously takern, stolern ai carried away from the possession

el =

L. time, the following property, viz :

Wabd property s feloniowsly talern, sé
C 72 P e c ¢

///f%
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CITY AND COUNTY
OF NEW YORK,

/ Zie A @—, /{,
;éa’/g;ed - gyea'rs,\ occupation %‘? / ’I'Z_—
o ¢%ﬂ—%/<j it S%Bemcr duly sworn, deposes/nd
/ /

e oz

-~

says, that he has hearﬁi/refd/tﬂgm ‘regoing affidavit (’{47,5//

; P =
and that the facts stated therein on information of deponent are true of db/p@s own

knowledge.

4 — P
Sworn to pefo & Z‘.b.ls, e —
day N A]# ,

& Po]zce Jusiice.
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Sec. 198—200. .Digtrict Police Counrt.

Q(ﬂ?i‘./g'uxa Cowvty of L

.............. TS L being duly examined before the undersigned

aceordin law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is h/‘a'ght to make a state-

ment in relation to the charge against h — —thatThestatement is designed to enable h ,if e
see fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against &—"-7%hat he is at liberty to

waive making o statement, and that h\—J@B\,iVGl‘ cannot be used agninst L™ —emtie-trial.

Question. What is yo e ?

Answer. ¢ B /

Question. Ilow old are yon?

Answer. //7 ~

Question. Where were you born? ..~

Answer. ' o /

T~
Question. Where do you live, and how long havey/ﬂed there ?
Answer. 2%\ %/i/e c/%

Question. What is youlW)r profession?
Answer. -l P et e ce- //é/

Question. Give any expla you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the testi-
mony agdinst~you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your exculpation.

Answer.
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fous buofaq woymy

/ 1362
Sec, 198—200. Distriet Police Court.

...being duly examined before the undersigned
according to law, on the annexed charge; u,nd\beiug informed that it is ](_,_,/gight to make a state-
ment in relation to the churge against e _atimithe statement is designed to enable I L ib—Tre—
sce fit, to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against M——"Tthat he is atliberty to
waive making n statement, and that h <« syvaiver cannot be used ngainst h~—on’the trial.

Question. What is yof nune ?

Answes.

Question. Ilow old are you?

Answer. / g g Ay —

Question. Where were you borp
Answer.

Question. Where do you live, and ho\v long have you ided there?
\j// = / /
Answer. o ﬂ 17 e r

Question. What is;;l;}wsiﬁess or profession ?
D
Answer. - € 'L~€)<7 Ay ﬂ{

Question. Giive any exflanation you may think proper of theGxtumstances appearingAh the testi-
mony“against you, and state any facts whiclh think will tend to your exculpation.

Answer.
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I have admitted the above-nanmved............ooeo

to bail to answer by the undertalking hereto annexed.

Police Justice.

Dated, 189

There Leind no sufficient cause to believe the within named

Luilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be discharged.

Police Justice.

Dated




@omvt of Geneval Fessions of . the Heace

OF THE CITY AND COUXTY OF NEW YORK.

Ty ProrLE oF THE STATE oF NEw YORK

against. - R
%qq.-r&z L’&? ol g
L/'/ @/ﬁ J’Z/t/ )

The G‘rland Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indietment, accuse

7

S//// '74/&1/41/( QL? S I Ci/w Q(L‘( «5‘-4'/’}2' é’“h/l/(// - \%/ e

of the CriME or GRAND LARCENY IN THE \,/Q'C—’C';X/'“‘L«__- =t DEGRER, committed

as follows

The said j&ﬁz,szu(_.g_.c; _‘ %,{A/ézwg( 7/:/-01/7 /‘:;A,/C, e M,{

-

-
w York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the r\<{ //M“
S in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

e

T _e ,,,\ —Crne

.

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one @u&q - /{' %)) /é{, . /
el v -

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, against
the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People

of the State of New York and their dignity.




SECOND, COUNT—

AND THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

of the Crrye or CRIMINA RECEIVING STOLEN PROPERTY, committed as follows :

_ ///Maa

L
late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year afore-

—.

said, at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

I GNP
//

of the goods, chattels and personnl property of one ‘)/;\c./(p_,,fl,,/a/;f{ ((%/ [//(/»_/, ,,-—(f//

‘ Y @/l/ i -
- - 72
Dl & WZ/\;)Z_ _)\\/4/,%.¢,1A0& /"/\-/’\)Z;C,TA/\_ %,Q
. 7
by¥_« certain person or persons to the Grand Jury aforgsaitl unknown, then lately before>
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away from the sz‘n{cl__\_/ %\ﬂﬂ(,efa—z.-'('/"(‘ V(Z//-ﬁ) Z?/){_/,"ﬁ,(/%\

g - . /- - - -
unlawfully and unjustly did feloniously receive and have; the said

-7 ../'/ ) .
"\A/&/ (:/*\L/—‘j ﬂ//ﬁ'Z/V(/‘I. e

then and there well knowing the Said goods, chattels and personal property to have been

feloniously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made
and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Aitorney.
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COURT OF OCENERAL SESSIONS,.

City and County of New York.

IR T I O R TR AR T TR LA LA IR TR IO IR LR AR TR (3R (LRI AR AR R T A 1)

T u e Peowle,
Before
HON. JAMES FITZGERALD,
and a Jurys.

VS.,

ANTONIO BIANCO

ad 24 23 we e 0o se

[ A T B IR A AR AR IR AR T AR IR P AR LA LN R IR T AR LR IR AL N AR AR LA L0 1 ]
Indicted for Murder in the First Depras, (&
Indictment filed August 17,1883
New York June 7th,
250 For the Peocple, Assis
+torney, Steprien J.

For the Defendant, Messrs
Hall, and Jochn Palmieri.

FRANK E. TOWLE, a wiitness for the SRR SWO YT,
testified:
Direct Examination:

I am city surve&or af the City.of New York,
and have been such for ten years; my plgce of business
at 25 Chambers Street. The c¢harts which are now
shown me were made by me, on Maven 1l7th, 13%24; they
are a sdescription and map éf the premises 19 Cherry

Street. I know that theyv are correct mans of the place
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they represent.

19 ana 21 Cherpry

One represents the houses
Street, with the entrance that goes through the centre
of the twc houses in 10 the rear yard. It aluo re-
bPrasents the brieck tenement marked A |, of which there
is another diagram here, showing part of the rremises

thhe top flioor of the house, and it lazo

the yard with another brici tenement housze to the

Bast of it. It shows the width of Cherry Street..

and

It shows the fron 4 of No. 18 and the front of No. 20
on the oppoiszite side oF the street. . The scale ig

four feet to one inch. One of +the plansg reprezents

two rooms with the stairs 2t the hall., It gives the
feet and inches for the widths and depths of the rooms,
and these blank spaces are windows; the door is repré—
ented, that leads into the hall, fvrom the larcer
om; tne door swings inward to the left; the scale

is two feet to one inch.
Cross Exam}nation:

I do not wnow who occupied the apartments in

n

- : - . . . - < . sy
question. The room in whieh it 1s c¢laimed ths killing

took pliace was Furnished when I wasz there.
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ROSALINA ZAMORELLI, a witness tor the Peopis, aworn,
testified:
Direct Examinaticn:

.I live at No. 19 Cherry Street. I occupy

apartment No. € on the third floor, the top floor in

thé reayr. I lived in the same place on the Ssth ot

May 1893, I lived with Gabriele Bertolini; he and
Teresiano, who is 1 wife of the Defendant Bianco;

there Was a c¢child alsc, It was a bow. I am married

to CGuisseppe Monso, which name transzlateéd is ' Joseph
Monso. My husband is = laboerer, he works in the country.

In May- 1893, my husband was out of town. There were

two apartments there one of which was occupied by me

znd the other by Bertolini and Teresianc. The e¢hiid
slept on the sofa, usually, but when my husband Left
for the Country I took the child into my bed, My husbad
Was not away in the country when Bertolini and Teresiano

first came to live with us; my husband did not tell me

about their coming to live with us. I don't know
what moenth they came, but the lived with us one month.
Teresianc and Bertolini slept i : bed., The

defendant was born in ,the same h I was born,
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Stella Chilente. I knew the defendant in Xtaly. I don't
know hoew long he had been in New York when I met him.
I had a talk with hirm 2bout his wife jJust onece; that
was befcre the wife came from Italy. He called upon
me in Cherry Street while his wife was living there;
he came there three times in =zil. It was seven or
the shooting that ha led thers.

I remember the day of the shooting at our place
in Cherry Street. I got up at 5 ofelock in tha morning
and Bertolini and Mrso Bianco got up shortly after I
~ot up; they remained in the house that morning; they
were woerking a2t small rants——-hemming children's pants,
They had their breakfaszt that morning. I waz dressed
that morning in my corset and one.shirt, and a worn ola
skirt, and shoes. Bertolini had his pants,}and shirt
and slippers on. Mrs. Bianco head skirt on and corset
and éhemist, but no shoes. While we were working I was
sitting on the sifa with Teresianoc the defendant's
wife; opposite her was = tting Bertolini, on a chzair.

We were all engaged in the work of sewing on Childrens®

pants.

I szw the defendant when he came into the room,
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it was akbout halif past eight; he had a revolver in his

hand. I saw revolvers before, but I don’'t know anything

about them. He stood in the middle of the door;. before

he came the door was a 1ittle open, ajars. We did not

‘hear nim coming; he &id nox say anything when he came

there, On the diagram shown me, I indicate the door

and the stairs leading down, and the steiirs leading to
the roof, I also indicate where the sfove was and the
sink, and the sofa where we were sitting. Bertolini
was sitting with his shoulder towards the stove; the
right shoulder. At the time Bianco came, we were

seated on the sofa. The sofa was near the stove?

Bertoiini and Teresiano were seated, 80 that their
knees touched. He, the delendant, first shot against
Bertolind, and the woman, Teresiano, when she saw that

he was shooting, at Bertolini, with her hands against
Bertolini, she tried to shiald him; she had her face
turned towards Bertolini and her back towards herp husbang

Bianco was in the middle of <he door, I saw him with the

weapon in his hand. He aimed Six shots at Bertolini and
the wife interposing to shielf Bertolini, got shot
too, All the shots were aimed at Beritolini, even the

last one. It is impossible for me to state now with
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certainty, everything. because I was all uprset.

In entering the dcor Bertolini was fronting Bianco

and Mrs. Bianco was front Bertolini when she was hit.

It is impossible foy me to state how many shots were

fired ¢ while she was in that Position--but as scon

s he had shot she commenced to hollos and sScream, and

Piat herseli between Bertolini uand the shiooter. He shot

wWoman and

o

against Bertolini but he hit the weman. The
Bertolini were faeing each other and behind the woman
was Bianco. He fired six times. I then dodged ang

I couldn't see how many shots he fired. I bent cver on

the floor; I was almost dving from fright. Afiter he

Tired the last shot at Bertolini, he said "Go be fuckeqgv,
Then he ran away. The other two were Screaming; Bertolin
wert to the window and hallcaed: Police! Police! Arrest

him., Aresst him.". I also ran away when he finished

shooting.

I have not spoken to anycne about this case since

I made my statement to you.,
Mrs., Bianco was in fron ¢ of the bed at the
moment thet I ran out; she was at the oot of the bead

leaning against it-=she lay ower the bed Partly.
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When I ran away they were both alive. I went into

the yard and the policeman had Biancoc in his pwer whom
he had arrested. I went upstaire asgain, but, as 1 was
near the door, they would not let me into the room,
and they took me to the Station House. I didn't see
them any more, neither dead nor alive

The first time that Biance called at our house,

Mrs, Bianeo and Bertolini were living there. Bianco
was kissing the hand of Bertolini and asking him to
give him bsck his wife. He said, "Oh god-father of
mine, give me back my wife and you will have ail
happiness heaped on vyou. May @t =all be heaped on Yyou.
Bertolini said; "Your wife doesn't want to go and live
any more withh you. That is all you want to knowe. She
said: "That nauseous creature, he always comes here.
Bianco was not there a2t the time; he was gone.
Bertoiini said "That is what you have learned; that is
what you know now", and Bianco sa id, Yes that miuich I
have learned; that much I know now. Mrs. Bianco said
that she didn't want to go back, and she spat in the

face of Biancc. She said, "You dare to come here, you

nausedéus and stinking fellow; I shall alwzys spit in your
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face. I didn't see where the spit hii, because I was
cdisgusted; I turned away. Bianco rerproached Bertolini
that he had boarded him and also lent him money. Once
Bianeco zsked the mceney Trom Bertolini, and he said "How n
can I give you money, when I haven't pot any money, when
I don't earn =any money?" That wasz said the last time
he came to the house. As near as I can judge it was
eight or nine or ten a days after the pecple cam2 to lie
live i that Bianco made his first c¢all. He
wae there then a guarter or half an hour. The
call he made I think was about five or six days
Bertolini and Teresiano and I, were there and Bianco
came in and kissed his child, and the other ones said
that if he called ag=zin, they would throw him dowvnstairs.
Bertolini said? "What for? What business have yocu to
come here., I don't want you here. If vou call again
I will throw you down the stairs. Mrs. Bianco said,
"What does that stikking tellow come here for. I don't
want to see him. I don't want him to call any more".
Nothing was said on that occasion about money.

He called a third time there, when I was alone-~
the Gthers were not there. I had no talk with him asbout

money on that occasicn. He did not come any more.
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He did¢ not ceme the night before the shootinge.

Once ﬁe was down in the yard and I brought the boy down
there to him. I never brought the boy to him on any
other occasion. He kissed and embraced the child

and said,"I don't knocw what is the matter with me, how
I look", because i1 seemed to him that he had grown
thin,. I ssid thet it seemed to me he had eaten very
little, and that he was fasting, and then he took the
child with him znd he said, "Call mamma, call mamma, "
and then he =zaid the words "Goodbye, good-bye.". He

toock the child with him and went away

Cross Examination:
I have been in thés country four yvears. I
knew Mrs. Biango as well as her husband, on the other
At that time they weren husband =z2nd wife, and
were NALLY. I knew Bertolini in Italyg. He was offi
secretary of the town; he was of a wealthy family,
he was wealthy himselfl, while Bianco was a tailor
worked for his bread and butter. The wife worked als

I don't know how mueh; the husband worked to support

and her child. There was no disturianse ketween
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the two. Everybody knew them in the town. His repu-~
tion for honesty, peace and gquietnass was excellent.

I don't know if I was in Italy when Bianco left there
for this country. His child was a nice 1ittle fellow,
and resembled the father; they wer=s both rather thin.
Bertolini was a very nice young marn, and tall snd well
built. Biznco's witfe was shorter than I, and more
stcut. In the month of April 1883, Bertolini came

to osur house and said to my husband, Y"Give meé az room in

your house," and my husband said, "Well, but I don't

like her, I don't want her." meaning Bianco's wife, who
was to come there with Rertolini. They both came the
same d4day. Bertolini had already brought their bed,

and was beseeching my husband tc allow him to come

there and take the woman there, and asked and prayed

so that Tinally my husband cowuld net help yvielding.

Since that time they lived as husband and wife in my

IO Oms. Bianco's wife brought the child with her when she
came. It was nine or ten days aflter the bed was

brought there that they came. We knew Bertolini en

the other side znd that is the reascn he rented the

room from us. .
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Bienco came into the shop where I worked and he said
to me, "Rosalinz , did you see my wife?" and I said "No",
because I had not seen her. Mrs., Bianco arid her child
were not boarding with me; they had their own expenses
arxl bed, and so had I, for my part. I don't know how
long it was after they came to us, that they took in
Children's clothes to work on them. They earned twenty
four, or twenty five or thirty ceﬁts, and not more.

I don't know whether they borrowed money oOr not.

At the time when Bianco came and said to Bertolini
that he wanted his wife back, he also said, "I want also
my money back, my $30.00 for board and money lent,
whiech I gave you'. The thrid time that he called was
the last time; it was on that occasion thsat Rertolini
said he would throw him down-stairs. Rianco was in
2 state of humilizticn when he was in their presence,

e wept.

9. Describe his looks =and mannexr, the third time that
B

ianco called on you? A, How can I describe everything
so Tar as his appearance, how his countenance and every-
thing ~else lcoked. He wqs always disturhed and upset.

He always came crying; cn all the three Ooccasions.
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Q. Was Bianco allowed to take his wife out for a walk
and return his c¢hild to his wife, by Bertolini?
A, I was not present to see that.

It was the last time that he came to the house that I
took the c¢hild down in?g the yard for him. Bertolini
told me, YRosalinz, take the child down to the deaf
man *ho is down in the yard®. They used to ¢all the
defendant the deaf man. He is known as the Ydeaf man"
Before the il1d was taken down to the yard, nothing
was said between me and Bianco. He took the child in
his arms and kissed it, and said, "Call mamma." The
child c¢alled the mammz,; the mamma did not respond. The

defendant’s manner was the same as on the other

occasicn.

I remember the day of the shooting but I do not

remember the date. The door was opened and Bianco
ocpened it wider, and blazed away: he fired six

shéts in rapid succession. It was after the first

shot was fired that I found out that Bianco was in

the room. Mrs. Bianzo at the time the shooting commernce
was &t my dide; she was nearer the door. Bertolini

was fTacing the door from which Bianco entereaq. I

heard the first shotr and she raised herself up and
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put herseld beside Bertolini, and then I heard the shots
fired successively, rapidly.

Q. Now after hwo many shots did'you throw yourself Tface
on the ground, as you have described? A. I couldn't

tell you how many shots. In hearing the shooting .,

and in hearing her sereaming, I threw mysel?r down.

Q. You positively swear that you saw Mvrs. Bianc
embrace Bertolini, at the tim e when he was

A, Yeg zir.

Qe Anda i was after that you threw yourseif &own? A,

A. Yes sir. She gct up and I threw myselfl down, bending

towards the floor. I could nmot decsribe his looks

at that time; he was horrible and ugly and upset,

I have nce ceriidren myself,

RE DIRECT ENAMINATION:-
The child of Bianeco was tzken away the day be-

fore the killing. The child was not in the house at the

time of the killing. I will indicate the prosition or

+

the door on the diagram shown me, it is markead A, and the
sofa is marked A2; the chair where Bertolini sat is
marked A%.. I can indicate the position of the bed,

the window, the place where Bianco stood.
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RE-CR0CSS EXAMINATION:

The day before he came to the cnild I had ngone
to Mulberry Strect, and I saw Bianco, qut in front
of Mo. 73, and he said to me, YRoszlina, do me the
favor 10 bring the child to me. Why didn't you bring
the child to me?" and I answered, "I didn't know that
I had to meest you this moment. Why don't ¢ you
come over'and. take .your child yourseliev And he said,
"They don't want me thérea“ and I said, "Why don't
you come yourself and take the chilid?" And that was the
wnole conversation, and I went away again. I 1ef{
I live on the top floor of the premises where the
took place, and the Brooklyn Brigdge crosses right

making a great - noise.

GUISEFPE MONSO, a witness for ithe People, sworn, testi-~+{
fied:
Direct Examination by Mr, O'Hare.

I am the husband of the last witness Rosalina
Zamorelli. Cn the 25th of May, 18983, my apartments were

at 19 Cherry Strest on the top floor in the rear--apart-

ments No. 7. I work out in the country as {oreman, for




ORIGINAL

NV i AL bt

C. Caperilla and G. Tepezetta. I know Antonio Bianco,

and his wife, and Gabrielle Bertolini. I knew them

before the 25th of May, 1823, I had a talk with Bertolish

in April, 1893 about coming to live in my place,.

I 2also had a telk with Mrs. Antonio Bianco about

aoming to live at our house.

Q. Dbid she speak to you about it? Noe« o I afterwards
with Antonio Bianco about it, in the strest

soﬁewhere. I dont remember wheres, because I never

register what I have Seerll. I was between April ana

May that I saw him. It was before Bertolini came

te our house to live. I told the defendant that Ber-

tolini intended to stay with me in my house, and that

"L did not like his wife-- -the priscner’s wife 1o

follow him into the house. Bertolini talked to me when

he met me in the street, that he wanted %o come t0 my

hoﬁse. I told him it was all right b his bed was al-

ready in my house, but I did now want the wife. I asked

Bianco whether his wife and Bertolini could come to

live at my housg, because I didn't want any trouble on

that account. Bianceo said that aryvtime she didn't

want to stay with him, she might go wherewvewr - she
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say ves, to this arrangement, but I dop't want any trou~
ble afterwards at allv. Then he said, "I will have her
come into your house under such circumstances, because

I don't know whether they want me", I answered, "Well ,
you yourselid see too if you dan come when I am at

home, because I don't want any trouble when I am at home?!
That is all right", said Bianco, "I do not intent to come
and make aquavrrels, and 1 case 1 should call at your
house, I should call to see you as a friend". Then he
went to his business and I 10 mine. After that talk
Bertolini and Teresiano came together 1o live in the
house. Rianco came to visit two or three times, when

I was at home. Mrs. Bianeco was there. I think Bsrto-
1ini ocnce wasz zbsent; on the other occasions he was there
Sometimes Bianco spoke about wanting his wife back and
sometimes he didn't mention it at all, I think he

talked withh Bertolini once or twice, I have no sxact

recollection of it. He never had z guarrel on these

o®casions in my preserce. I'don't know whether the
defendant and his wife had quarrels there; I didn’t
pay much attention to such things, but I heard some-

times they had gquarrels there.
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Q. But not when you wersa present? A. I am not sure.
They had remained in my house about twenty days and
after those twenty days I went to the couwatry to work.

I was not at home the time of the killing.

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I was zcquaineged with Bianco in Italy, and
also withh Bertolini. I was very well acguainted with
the family. I am a friend of everybody's. I knew
Bertolini since he was & very yound m=En. I knew him
when he became a soldier and after his military service
he returned home and became Secretary of the Municipality
of the place. We were friends. I was mors acguainted
with | Bertolini than I was with Bianco. Bertolini be-
longed to an honest, well-te~do family. I knew Bianco
when he learned the trade of tailor with Montella who

teacher.
he a tailor at the time he married his wife?
A, I don'"t know the circumstances because I did not

belong to the .village he hailed from. He cam@ 1o this

country after I diqd. I cannot remember exactly when

I szaw him on this side. I remember when Bertolini came

to this side. Bianco was living then with his wife
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and child, whether happily or unhappily, I could not saye.
I visited them many times but I did not see them

quarrel, they seemed to live in good accord together.

I saw them together go out to their place of work, but

I cannot say what might have happened withnin their domes-
tiec wzlls.

Qe You are on verm intimate termg with Volpe Brothers
relatives ¢f BRertclini? A, I an a friend of everybody,
except these :who are my fTces.

Q. The Volpe Brothers are not your foes are they? A. No.
Most of my time is spend in that store. I have never
been subpoenaed in this case before to-day. Mr. O'Havre
was at my house Saturday afternoon. Myrs., Bianco

hired a man 1o bring her things to my house; I did

not bring them. She told me th=at she paid 25 or 30
cents. Mrs. Bianco told me that she wanted to come

and stay in my house taogethey with Bertohini, but I
refused toc ‘admit them, and I said, "I only wanted
Bertolini alone."

Q. How iong hagd EBertolini been living =2t your house
before he spoke to you about her coming to live with him?
A. I don't know whether eight, or ten or fifteen days

Oor more.
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Bertolini spoke to me abhout her coming, before she did
herself.

Q. Did he say that the first time he came to your house?
A, Two or thres night before she came to our house.

Mrs. Bianco was then living with her husband.

R. After Bertoclini had spoken to you about Mrs. Bianeo,

1

he came to vour house and atayed there zlone, did N't

he? A, He came to stay in my house, and for two nights

he was aslone. The third night he did not spend in my
house; I don't know where he went to sleep, whether in
the nouse of Nicolo Bertelno or somebody else.

He was not boarding with us. At first we did not make
any agreement specially; but whem he came the second tie
time, then it was understeod that it was monthly pay-
ments; the rent was in mopthly payments.

The reason why Beritolini left Biancoe's house, was
told to me by Bianco's wife. The reason was because
Mrs, Bianco said that she wanted to go with her paramour
and live no more with her husband. I think that is
the reason Bertolini left Bianco's house.

Q. You say that when RBianco c¢alled at your house, you

heard that he gquarrelled with his wife-—--who did you




hear it from? A, Sometimes he gquarrellied becauss he
wanted his wife to return and live with him; sometimes
he did not, but said, "She may g0 to the Devil." There
is much more to be salid upon my conscience and I want

say it.

DIRECT EXAMINATION:®
Once I remember that I was going home with Ber-
volini when we met Bianco at the corner of Worth and

Park Streets, and then Riznco aasked $30., of Bertolini.

Bertolini answered; "At this moment I have not the money

but I will give it to you when I have itv. I don't know

whether this money was asked for board or for some
other aceount that passed betweesn them. He dig not

give the resaszson why he asked Ffor the money . Bianco

Y. If you haven't the money, Y will wait two vears,

if nece¥sary, only I don't want to be riucked~---I gon'®t:
want to be played upon." Bertcelini then saidg, "I am

2 man who keeps his word, I promise fhe money and I will
glve it to you, but at this moment I have not the money.

Bianco =zaid; "Well, provided you will give me the money

I will wait for it, but I don't want to be riayved uponp."

At that time Bertclini lived at my house with the Bianco

”

-
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woman. At that time there was no talk about the wife
at all. Bertolini came with me and Bianco went his way.
The three of us met on another occasion on the street—-—--—
it was on that occasion when I was an ear witness.

Q. Was there any other occasion on the corner of Park
and Worth Streets? A, I can’'t remember any other times

I had to mind my own business,

RE DIRECT HXAMINATION:
I was Tirst subpoenaed in this casze iast

.Saturdéy. I never spoke to anybody representing
the prosecution of this case before. I was in the Court
with my wife last Saturday. It was 1’,1>:uef1 that I first
spoke on this sucject to the prosecutio;; I am here to
tell the truth.

Bertolini told me tefore No. 73 Mulberry Street
thhat he could fresely come to live in my house because he

had already settled any monetary difference between him: »

self and Bianco.

G Do you swear that you saw or heard Mrs. Bianco say -

that she gave 25 cents to another man to carry the bed
of Bertolini to your house, and that yvou did not carry

the bed of Bertolini yoursel-f. A, No sir. Somebhoqay
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‘ecarried it. I didn't myself; I am not a dray man.;

When Bianco called at the house, I think my wife
was a2t work in the shqp. I think she was home once,
but I eannot state with certainty. On the others
occasions that he visited the house while his wife
was thers, I was away 1o the country.

It was betwesn the 15th and the 17th of May
that I wenf BWAY o I cannot gsive thne name of the driver
that brougnt the bhed of Bertolini to the house. I know
thyr man but not his name. He used to live in Baxter

Street, corner of Bayard.

PHILLIP HEFFERNAN, =2 witness for the People, sworn,

téstified:
Direct Examination:

I am an officer of the Municipal Police
assigned to duty in the Fourth Precinect of this city.
At half past eight o'clock on the morning of the 25th
of Mayv, I was in Cherry Street betwesn Catherine and
Frankliﬁ Square. I saw the defendant there. I

a man running across the street; the street was blocked

.

up with trucks; I saw the man dodge arourd the trucks
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as 1f trying to get away. He dodged around five or
six trucks; then I grabbed him. I asked his what was

the matter and he Jidn't answer. I askedhim two or three
times. Just then a man came across the street and toid
me that he had.shot somekody up the alley. I brought
him back througn the alley way and up the stairs--through
the alley~way running between the houses 1i9nand 21 |
Cherry'Street. This person who told me went in with me.

I met & lady going through and she kept behind me, Mrs.
Gentilesca, She is nere to-day. Went into the alley, ino
into the yard, down three or four steps and up to the

top floor on the rear 1ot of 12 Cherry strest. . I

had the prisoner with me. I opened the door and went

in and found a woman lying on the floor on her knees

and face, and a man sitting on a lounge; he had his
hand to his stomach like this (indieating). I asked him
what the matter was, Pointing to the prisoner he said,
"That man shot me and shot her too". I azked what

he done it for; he spoke something in Italian, I did not
understand. So I tried to raise the woman and she was
uncoeonscious. She didn't make any motion or move at all.

I asked Mrs. Gentilesca to ask the defendant what he
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did it for, and then some conversation took place in

Italian, and Mrs. Gentilesca repeated the answsrs 1o me.
Upon the statements thus made tome I brought the prisone
er directly to the station house, and called for +the am
bulance. While the priscner was in the room he
looiked at Bertolini and his wife, and made no motion.
His wife was on the Ifloor.

I point out on the diagram, the rosition of the
bodies, or the persons, whom I have named; at the
time I saw them. This is the lounge where Bertolini
-was. He was sitting right back of the b door oOn
the lounge here. Mrs. Bianco was kneeling on her
knees, and faced right about at the food of the
bed. Mrs. Gentilesesz and other people were in the room.
I did not notice anyvithing particular about Bertolini.
He showed the holes in his shirt where he was shot]
there was no blood on the outside. The hole was kind
of black in color. I didn’'t dusturh the woman at all;
only let her lay thers in that position. I took her
by the arm and there was no movement at ail. I con-
cluded she was dead. I brought him to the Station

House and sent ou+t a call for an ambulance, and ASTC RN
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came back =a2gain.
The priscner’'s conduct in the rocom was perfectly

calm, and he answered all questions that Mrs. Gentilescs
put to him. He didn't seem no way nervous; seemed to
me very calm and <cool; he spoke to0 her in Italian,

I don't know what he said. After I first mot hold
of his I asked him what was the matter, and he didn't
make any answer, I asked him three times in English,
until this man came across the street, Monsa and told me
he shot somebody. I did not ask him any more questions.
We were not in the room over three or four minutes.
While we were there I held the prisoner by the collar
right in front of Bertolini and his wife in the flcor.
He was nearer to Bertolini; I stood between him zand his
ﬁife. His was in front of the door as you enter.

I am sure did not say anything to his wife. He said
something in Italian to Bertolini. He did not approach

B

his wife at all, or 1ift her up, or atitempt to speak to

her; -made no motion towards her, or showed no concern

whatever.
I brough him to the station house and had him locke

up without taking his pedigree. Went back with the ward
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man. Whenn T went back. the woman was roiling on the 1
floor moaning; she had changed her position. Bertolini
had left the lounge, and gone to a bed in the same room
and laid in that. That is bed A7 on the diagram. The
ward man thouszht we had bed¢ter have him identifie=d by
an Italian Interpreter, A ypund Italian boot black in
the house came down with us. When I came down, she

was dead; the woman was. The ambulance doctor and
priest came, and then he identified the deféndant
through an Italisn Interpreter. He identified him and
talked in Itzlian with him. He identified the defendant
as the man who had shot him and his wife; remained

there a little while and the ambulance doctor removad
him,. They removed the body to the hospitzl and he died
gt-half past six that night at the hospital,. The woman
dizcd at ten minutes past nine; i room when she
died: .I saw. the woman after she was dead. There was
quite a lot of blood on the window sall and on the
floor, where it had been spsttered about, by both

the man and the woman. I did not notice any on the
sofa, nor on the chair in front of the sofa, nor on

the stove, nor any on the walls of the room; only on
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the floor and window sill. It was in spotse. There was
blood where Mrs. Bianco lay; not very much blood.

Q. On the floor at the place where neither Mrs. Bianco
nor Bertolini lay, at the timeyou were there, was there
any bhlood? A. Yes sir.

I+ was right in the middle of the Tloor. {Witness marks
on the diagram the place where the hlood wasi.

Q. When you came Lack with the prisoner the second time,
you returned to the ststion house wiith him, did you?

A. No sir, the ward man hrought him and I remained
theres.

When we brousght him tc the station house in the first
occasion, I searcned him and found & pocket bvook,

rawn tickets and some chanse, I produce the pocket book

and the pawn tickets, also a piece of red flannel with

needles in it, and snothey piece of parper.

I placed nim in a cell thene. There was nothing else
found on him, buti what I have stated. . The revolver
was given to me by Mrs. Gentilesca. The one now shown
me is the same revolver. At the time she gave it to me
the ba rel was rather dirty; the end of the barrel.

he had it either in her pocket or apron when she gave

it to me. I don't recollect whether it was hot Or cold.
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Mrs_ Gentilesca came upstairs right atfter me
and the defendant. She handed me the revolver just
I was leaving the room. I asked her whether anybody
the revolver and she pulled it out of her apron .
I asked her where she got it and she szaid she found it
stairs coming up. The revolver had chambers in
were all =2mpity; the shells were in there--
shellé. They were in there at the time
she handed the pistold 1o me. The =shells got misiaiad
in the station house; it was in 2 drawer znd it got
mislaid. The pistol was a 38 Caliber,
The second time I came back Mrs. Bianco was not
ead. I did not cane back with the prisoner then. I
sent to the station house to bring ﬁim back again,
to have him identified~-if she came to her senses that
shhe might identify him. When I came badk she was dead.
I did no-z see the body remover. A n undertaker was
employeds I do not know who employed him. He was Char-

les Bachegalupa, at 26 1,/2 Mulberry St.

I saw Mrs., Bianco's face that day. I saw it
to recognize it. The corconer and three or Pfour atten-—

dants were present at work with Bachegalupa there.
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Mrs. Bianco's body was in the back “room. I waited and
saw the deputy coroner perform the autopsy. It was on

the same body as the body of the woman I saw at 1Sn
Cherry Street. I was there told it was Mrs. Bianco.

I am positive it was the same. I believe the woman

was shot in the left breast; there was & hole there,

and & kole in the shoulder; I could not say how far

it went in. X noticed this. I saw the features, Tzce
and dress and I am positive they were the same .

Q. There was no other dead body there? L. NoO sir, he & is

died azfterwards .

CROSS EXAMINATION:

Q. Did you make any search in the apartments or on the

stairs for anything besides the pistol that was found?

A. No sir. I dién't search for any knife or find one.

I found no weapon. We looked around before Mrs. Gen-

tilesca gave me the revoiver. I hunted around under the

lounge and under the bed to find a revolver and could not

When I arrested the defendant he wazs on the opposite

side of the street, getting up on the curbstone. He had

been running. Ee was dressed similar to the way he is
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now. I then took him 10 the back room; we were there
three or foun minutes; he was in my custody =all the time.
The defendant spoke something in Italiman. I didn't
understand what it was. When in the rcom with Mrs.
Gentilesca, they were speaking together. She would be
able to tell me what he said, He was understood to be
in my custody at the time. I had hold of him. I don't
think I stood in the house more than four minutes, for

I théught o0os sending for a2n ambulance as quickly as
possibly. We brought him back 2 second time because
the ward man thought it better to have him Identified by
an Italiap Interpreter. The second time we stayed
there & half an hour. During that time there was con-—
versation had with -him by an interpreter, and a priest
and a doctor. - The ward man's name in Crury. He 1is

not in Court at this time. He is away for two weeks

on a special duty. When I entered that room forst I

saw the bed. I didn't notice whether it was made or

unmade .




-y RS e wvaAlSm e &
. ORIGINAL

ko e b

MRS. ROSA GENTILESCA, z witness for the People, swor,
testified:
BY MR. O'HARE:

I lived at 19 Cherry Street. I have moved to
21, I am the wife of Joseph Gentilesca. On the 25th of
May, 1893, my husband was the lessee of the building
19nand 21 Cherry Street, and the building in the rear,
inéluding the apartments occupied by Rosalina Zamorella
and her husband Monsa. I remember the morriing of the
25th of May, 1893, I was called downstairs, and I saw

officer Heflfernan and t I saw the defendant with the

officer, and I saw Mrs, Zamovella. That is all I saw

at the moment. I met the officer in the vardg, and they
were on the way upstairs and I followed afteyr, I was dizz.
rectly behind the officer and Antonio RBianco. On the

way up to the rooms I picked up a pistol, a revoiver

like the one shown me. I don’t know whether the one

shown me is the same or not, I don’t know whether

it was hot when I too k hold of it; I didn't Pay much

attention. I put in under my apron. When I got up .
stairs Teresiano =nd Bertolini were there. Mrs. Zamor-

ella had run away. Officer Heffernan and the defendiant
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were in the room. Bertolini was sitting on the lounge
the lounge was to the left of the door. Teresiano

lyving on the floor, in the middle of the floor.
She was rolling on-her hzck as I remember it. I
did not speak to her at that time. BRertolini seaid,
pointing to the prisoner, "He shot me.". Bertolini
s2id in Italian to Bianco, "Big pimp, you took $30
for yvour wife". I told that to Officer Heffernzan. -
The defendant didn't say anygthing at the time. dig
not speak to the defendant after that. I was speaking
to the Officer, not to Bianco, Bianco was there. I 4aia
not ask him questions in Italian. The Police officer
asked Bertolini "Who shot you", and he said, YThat
cuckold there t shot me; he had the courage to take
from me $30.%. FHe didn't say - what it was for;
At that time Mrs. Bianco was on the Tloor3She was
breathing. She had no blecod; she was not bleeding.
I shook her and asked her, YAre you alive or are you
dead? ¥ She d4id not answer Bianco then did not say
anyvthing. Bertolini had hoth his hzands én his stomach.

Then the officer went away with Bianco. I diad not say

anything to Bianco before he went awzay. I didnot
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speak to him when he came back. I don’t remembser any
peculiar motion he made with his sleeve. I don't_remem—
ber asking him why he shot them. I don't remember
Bianco saying, "Ha ha, vou wanted to go with my wifev. .
I éon't remember saying that 0 you before, or explaining
anything about a movement of his sleeve. . Bianco saig
"You was the man that came across the ocean to take my
wife zway from me." He said; "You are the same man that
is killed off my hands.Y That is what I remember. Still
\
he was saying =2 éood deal foolishly in "his words, but
didn't upderstand them. Bianco wzs talking to himslef,
but 1 didn't understand him. The officer was there
and had his hand on his neck. I cannot remember Bianc
saying anything about Bertolini having been with his
wife. I cannot remember what is not in my heag. At

the time the officer Brought Bianco w to where Bertolini

was sitting the house was chock Tull. G I can’t tell

you who they were. I remember Bianco being brought

away by the officer. I was not there when he was brough
back. I saw Mrs. Bianco_when she was dead. I 4did not
see Bertolini, when he was carried to the bed in the room
I went awWay, but before I went I handed the revolver

to the officer, I saw the officer make a search Tor the
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revolver under the bed.
I dont remember the precise words that Bi?nco
used, when Bertolini called him a big cuckold. "Ha. You
have come over here to bring trouble into my house--
you zare the man who has fucked my wife-- you are the

man and yowu have c¢ome over here to meet death by my handl

CROSS EXAMINATIOWN:
I cannot remember zany of the foolish things

that the man said. They had nothing to do with the
case. He did not know what he was saying. He was not
addressing anybhody. He azcted like a wild man; he didn't
know what he was doing. He.said a good many foolish

things that I didn't understand. I didn't understand
it was in the case at all. I cannot remember anything
more that he said.

Q. In regard to the words you have already translated,

were they indistinect words? A. He was talking to himsel

like sn insane man. He didn't know himself what he said.
He had eyes like that, {Indicating). I have often heard
that he 1s =z deaf man. Bertolini was standing looking
around like one dazed. I did not know Bertolini.

I did not+ know Bianco before this ocecasion.
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JOHN J. AARON, & witness for the Poepl, sworn, testified{
Direct Examination :

I am a pawnbroker, and do business at 191
Grand Street in this city. I dia business at the.
same place on the £25th day of Mry, .1893. The pawn
ticket shown me represents a pledge made at my establish

ment.

MICHAEL CASSELLA, a witness for the People, sworn,
testified:
Direct Exanipation:

I live at 10 Roosevelt Street in this city.
I am a boot black in the tstation-house in the Fourth
Preeinct; that is in 0Oak Street, one hlock from Cherry
Street, I was there on the 25th of May, 1893, I saw
the defendant Bianco there on that day, it must
have been about half past eight in the morning. .
He was brought in by Officer Heffernan. I did not
see him before he was brought in. The sergeant called

me upstairs in the station house; the defendant was in

the office; right at the degk. I could not say 1if{ there

was & talk had there because I was downstaire.
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I speak Italian and English. The Sergeant told me
to ask him what his name was, and I took his pedigree.
His name he said, was Antonic Rianco. I asked him where
he livéd and he sazid 7S5 Mulberry Street.

Q. Did you tell him what the charge was against him?
A. He told me that himself. The priscner told me

This Bianco said to me that V Bertolini had
fecllowing aroudd his wife guite often in the olg
try. Bianco said that Bertolini had some thing to
do with his'wife, too; and after Bianco found out that
Bertolini had something to do with his wife he stayed
over there a little while and then he came to New
York, Bianco did; and he came over hers and stayed a
little while, until ne made up a little money, and 59
paid the money fozi is wafe w0 come oveir to New York

his child; and afterwavds when Bertolini found

that Mrs. Bianco came oves we New York, he came over

here, just for that purpose, to take Bianco's wife

away from him.

I aun an Italian. I have been in this city
fifteen vears., I nhave been around the station house

about nine years.
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Q. Are you giving in FEnglish the substance of what he
szid in Iialian? A. Yas sir.

So, when Bertolini came to New York he must have
met Mrs. Bianco around the street, and they nad some
talk between themselves, and Mrs. Bianco when she went
home, she bhegan to give some Ffunny talk t0 the hushand.
So t she didn't care very much ahout the husband any more
Well he was always praying her to stay at home with him.
to live with him. 50, afterwards she stayved living
with him foxr about a wesk or s0, and then she went to
live with.this Bertclini, She left her huéband and w
went to live wiih Bertélini at 19 Cherry Street; and: :

they met the husband Eianco several times, upon ihe

A

§% " w3, 2nd they abused him, like he were spitting

all ove  his face, and calling him all the dirty names,

e e .

and he said, I stood as much as I could, as long as

I co .i1d. I eouldn’'t stand it any longer. Then she
took my son. I went to the house 10 Cherry Strazet and

I caliled for my son", then he .said he sent somebody

up to the house, theyvy were iiving, for the son. He
didn't want to £0 up there himsel® gn they brought

the son down, and he brought the son to his own house
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73 Mulberry Street, the next morning, he went over
there =zgain, after the boys cap, and ne met the same
‘man in the vard, and this man asked him what he was
looking for, the next morning, and he told him that
he was looking for the boy's cap. So e went upstairs
that morning, and the dooy was just aboui S0
muech open, and he shoved his head through, =nd he seen
cne on tog off the other, thnat I caught them in the act,
and he took the pistol and he oL e two of them.
“That is as far as I can rememker. That is all he told
me abdut it. I did not see him afterwards.

I went to 19 Cherry S=t. The Sergeant called me

over and he said, "Mike, wou go wiith Officer Hefflernan

up to the house for an interpreter,"and I wsnt up to

the house.Dfficsr Heffernann and the defendant went
with me. I saw Bertolini there, and Mrs., Bianco

who was lying on the floor dead. I was taXking to Ber-
tolini in the defendant's pressnce, in Italian. I asked
Bertolini if this was the man that shot nim, and he
said yes, and then I said to Bianco, "Did you shoot him"
and he saild "Yes, I did; I can't deny it." I says

"What is the matter with him", he was rolling himself




all over the bed. Bertolin i was a2lso complaining

about his stomach. He said that his stomach was burning
and that he couldn't rest himself, that his guts were
.bur&ing. Biance said nothing then about the reason;

ne nhad told me that. before. He said nothing fTurther
there. Mrs. Bianco was laying on the fioor and he said
"that he had shiot 1} two 61 them. He said +that he

had made one job of the two of them. A t the +time that
Bertolini said that his stomach was buring, nothing was
said then abou; Mrs. Bianco; he was just looking at

her. That is all the talk I had with Bianco about the

matiaere.

CROSS EXAMINATICN:

I am working at the station heouse,
I work for myself there. They give the the drying
rocm Tor a beocot black room. I am not an offi-
cial h .> I interpreted for the Sergeant who could
not speak Italian. Nothing was said to Bianco as to
whét he would say being used against him. He was not

PUut on his guard by me or by the Sergeant. I 4did not

know that he was deaf or hard of nearing. I have stated

that Bianco said he caught his wife and Bertolini in the
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acto I was the only person at the Station who under-
stcod Bianco's Italian answers. After this intevview
I went with back to Cherry Streest. There were several

women there. I don't know Mrs. Gentilesca. There were

several women there, and tney were all talking and
I could not listen to what they were gaying,
because the house was crowded with peocplie.

Q. Did Eianco stop or desire to stop at any place

4]

on the way back to Cherry St. A. No sir. . I didn't

hear him express any desire to stop.

PHILLIP HEFFERNAN, a witness for the People, recalled:

I was in those premises at half pPast 8 or a

little after that, on the morning ol the 25th of May.
The diagram shown me now is a correct one of the

room as it appeared that morning, The bed and furniture
is marked there as it was on the morning of the 25th

of May. I was not theres with the surveyor. I am

familiar with 4the approaches to the apartments occupled

by Zamorelli Monso. The diagram is correc<t. I indi-
cate the place where I arrested the defendant, on

the sidewalk. On the street, just off the sidewalk

close vo the dividing line between Nos 18 and 20
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AMIDEQ ROMANIA, a witness for the People, sworn,
testified:
Direct Examination:

I iive at 19 Cherry Stre=t. I know Antonio Biano
I saw him in the yvard of the place where Joe Monso lived
twice. I saw hir there the day before the killing
and tne da that he went upstairs; the day of the
killinge. The day before, I was oul and when , came
baek, I met him in the yard; it was in the afternoon
sometime=, and I met him in thers, and I says; "Antonio
what are you doing there?", and he =said, "Well I wait
wntil Rosalina Zammorrelli bring my boy down," anrd he
said to me, "Will vou please go up stzirs and get the
boy," and i said, "No, I haven't anything to do, to g0
upstairs," and at the same time Rosaline came down and
brought the boy down, and he went away with the boy.

I saw him the morning of the killing. I was in
the yard about half past 8. He came down through the
yard while I was there. I saw him coming throush the
alley and into the yard, and down the steps of No. 1¢.

That is the last I saw of him. I said to him, "Tony,
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what are you doing"; and he said "Eh!" and that is all
I saw him again when he came out in three or four minutes
I heard the shooting upstairs. About the time Bianco

come dovwn, Bertolini sticks his heads out of the

window and halloaed, and I was in the yard and hne said

to me, "Amideo, try to catch him. He shot me". .

4t the same time hecams in to the wvard. I didnot

do anvthing. I said, "What have you been doing up-
stairsz?" And he said, "Oh, 1 = alone. Don't you
bother me," and he went out.

I never tried to stop him. He was wakking just the

Ssame as when he went in. Ildidn't see him running
afterwards because I was working in the vard. I didan't

ray attention to it.

CROSS EXAMINATION:
I am the house keeper there. ¥ remember the day

that Bianco brought the child away, the day before

the murder.

Q. He immediately embraced the child and eried over him
and said to the child Yeall mamma" ? A. No sir, I never

heard that. m I was not raying attention to it.
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On the morning of the killine I noticed nothing suspicios

about the defendant.

When he went up, I ' "Where are you goin Tony"

and he simply said, Yeh?".

ILOUIS VOLPE, a witness for the Pecple, sworn, testified:
Direct Examination:

I live at 87 Henry Street in this city. I am
a banker at 75 Mulberry Street; the firm is L. Volpe
& Co. I know Antonio Bianco. I have knwown him seven

1t years before the killing of Mrs. Bianco and
Bertolini, I knew Bertolini; he was my cousin;} second
cousin, I think. O0f course we don't care very much
about it ; he was not a2 very close relation; he was a
distant cousin. I remember when he came to this
country. It was in March 1893, just a couple of months
before tne killing. He first stopped dowp at some nuwn-—
ber in Cherry Strest, in the house of a person named Tony
Gotto. I saw nim fregquently. He was =bout our place.
His trunk was in our place. I remember seeing Bianco
and Mrs. Bianco and Bertolini in our place one day.

I don't remember the day, it was a2 short time after
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Bertolini came to this countrys. i saw the trunk‘picked
off the floor and they put it on the head of Mrs. Bian
CO . I don&t recollect if it was her husband or Bertolini
that picked up the trunk. Bianco's wife carrisd it

away on her head. I saw them go out of our place with
the trunk and that is all I know about it. I saw

Bertelini when he was dead. What I nhave referred to

occuryred Tifteen or twenty days beflore the killing.

CROSS EXAMINATION:)

I am the senior member of the irm. We have

wholesale groceries, and z bank. We also take out

contracts. When Bertolini came to this country he

was out guest for seventeen or eighteen days. When

he left us he said he was going to live with Bianco;
that he was going to board with Bianco. Bertoiini
had paid up noihing for board. At that time he was in-
timate, and on friendly terms with Bianco and his wife.
Before Bertolini came to the country I remember that

Bianco and his wife lived at 18 FranklinbSt. I do not

know anything about whether they were living happrily or
not. I had never visited Bianco before the arrival ofn

Bertolini. I remember one day that Bertolini came to our
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rlace after he had left Bianco's nouse, and Biano came
in also. My brother was present at the +time, his name
is Vinecent . I remember Bianco at that time be ging

By

Bertolini to give him back w his wife and child.

Bertolini answered, "I don't care about your wife; thers
she is." The wife was thervre gitting on a2 chair. I
don't know who it was she came in with. I know =a man
who ccocmes in cur store named Guiseppe Monso. He has not
workaed for about a month. I don't know what he is

doing or whether he has any business or not. I could
not swear to that. I shouldn’t go after the man’s steps

to see ifhe is working or not.

RE DIERECT EXAMINATICIN:

He may do some werk that I don't know about.
He is in our store sometimes in the day and sometimes
at night. He does not spend all his time there. I

don't know whether he is working ov not.

‘RE CROSS EXAMINATION:

Q . As a matter of fact you are a relative of Gabrielle

Bertolini? A. Yes sir, I was.

A
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EDWARD J. DONLIN, a witness for the . Peopls, sworn,
testified:
DIRBCT EXAMINATION:

I am a physician in regular practice in this
city. I have been 2 physician since '78, On the 25th
of May 1893, I was a deputy coroner, arnd &M NOW,.

In cases of sudden death it is my duty to ascertain

the cause of death. In connecticn with my duties

I visited the bremises 26 1,2 Mulberry Street on the
25th day of May, 1893; the undertaking shop of Baccia-
czalupo.,. It was around 1 o’'eclock. There was a police
officer with me. I saw the body of é woman there and
was tcld tha; it was Terese Elise Rianco. I performed
an auntopsy on the bcdy. I will read the official
report: "Inspection-- I found, first, pistol shot
wounds on left forearm, midway between wrist and elbow
Passing completely through flesh. Second, another
ristol shot wouhd 0oi right arm, ?bout three inches below

shoulder joint, in a direction from below upwards.

Third, ancther pistol shot wound about two and =a half
inches to the left of left nipple, and one inch below.

The direction cf this wound is Trom left to right
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direetly through the chest. Fourth, another wound,

one and a half inches from interhal border of left
scapula. Direction upwards; and one on top of left

shoulder. These two wounds cszused by entrance and

exit of the same bullet.

On opening the body I found the thorax filled
with blood. Middle lobe o the right lung rerforated,
and perforation of the apex of the heart? That tullet
entersed the internal border of the left scapula, the
shoulder blade, you would call it. These woundsg
we made by bullet entering thorax, about two and half

inches to the left of left nipple, and 1 inch below

rassing through right lung and heart, and lodging be-

neath skin of ripght side, about four inches to the

right of right nipple, and about three inches below
right a»xilla. The ballet thz2t entered the right arm

was found embedded in skin one ineh below the outer
third of right cizvicle.

The wound in the arm was not a mortal wound.

The bullet which entered the thorax and traversed the
gpex of the heart, was a fatal wound, and in my opinion

wa s the cause of the woman's death. I am positive of
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that. I extracted two bullets in making the autopay,

which I procduce here, I also made an autopsy on the

body of Bertolini.

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I found three distinet ristel shot wounds in the
body of the woman, 38 a fourth whieh was made bv the
prassing out of a bullet. Two of the shots were more
Or less superficial, arg one was fatal,

I ill rezd the report of the autopsy on Ber-

tolini. "Inspection--— An incisecg wound as it made
by a knife, extending from umbilicas to symphisis pubis.

Also an incised wound =2s it made by a knife, 2 1,/2

inches in length, 1bout Ffive inches in a direct line be~
low the ieft nirpple. An another incised wourid,

wound on right side, 1 1/92 inches about the crest of

ilium. A slight abrasicn on forehead about the size or

three cent piesce, aboumt 2 1/2 inches =zbove the inner

cauthers of the right eye. A small perforated wound

6n the middle or inner third of left “rarm, and one at

lower third of S&me arm, about one inch above elbow,

both of these wounds connecting. On openéng the body
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I found a perforated wound of mesanteriec heneath sto-
mach, and one through lower borders of right lobe of

liver and gall blzadder." A pistol shot wound is classed

as =& perforating wound, =znd =z wound made by a sharp

instrument an incised wound. The slight abrasiocon
of the forehead was such as might be produced by
a fz211 on the floor. It could be produced by a weapomj.
It was a contused bruise.
RE DIRECT EXAMINATION:

The last sutopsy was made upon Bertolini at 28
1/2 Mulberry Streez. I know that he had been brought
to Chambear's Street Hospiial, and I was informed
that an operation had been performed there, -~c~of lapar-—

tomy, and that accounts for the incised wounds.




& WY AR PULALIE &

ORIGINAL

PP nind AL St gt

DEFPENSZE .

NICOLA BERTOLINI, a witness for the DIDefense, being
duly sworn, testified:

I live at 74 Mott Street. I am & delaer in
Singer Sewing Machines. I know Antonioc Bianco. I have
the mname gcfamily name as Gabrielle Bertolini, and maybe
in more ancient times there may have been some relation-—
shiip, bur that has been dissolved at the present times
I and Antonio Bianco are of the same pilace in Italy,
and so I may state that I knew his for about fifteen or
twenty vears. I remember when he married Teresiano Elise
He was living happlly with his wife after marriage.

Y

I am in this country four years and some months. I don's

remembeyr with certainiy when Bianco came to this country

but it is now about two years or two and a half years.
He and his wife and child came together, t0 board with
me. We went to take her at the Battery when she landed
and they lived together, 2ll three in my house.

I think Bianco was in this country a vesar before his

wife arrived. Bisasnco always sent her money to Italy.
He sent it monthly or at least once in two months.

When she came here and lived at my house, they lived
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in gooé harmony; they went around together and eat and

drank and amused themselves. They stayed three months

in my houseﬁbefore they went to G Franklin Street, and
after they went there we would exchange visits. They

were living ithere happily and peacefully as before.

I remember the time that Bertolini came to this
country, but I don't rémember the date. I remembér
that he went to live with Bianco. I knew Bertolini
in Ita2ly; he was my school mate and my mate in musiec.

I knew him since eight years., He knew Mrs., BRianco
in Italy. He knew that she was the wife of Bianco.
It was & small pl=ace. I was in Italy the Bianco married
her. I never knew of uanything wrong between Bertolini
and Bianco's wife, bneither in Italy nor America, until
the time he went to live with Biaﬁqo; until she went
o live with Bertolini.

On One ocecasion Bertolini and Mrs. Bianco paid a
-isit to my house. Bianco was not present at the time.

After they were engared in conversation for a while

Bianco came in.

As soon as Bianco enetered the room and saw Berto-

lini there, he knelt down =and said, " Bertolini give me--
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let alone my wife. Let my wife come hack to me," and
Rertolini said to him, "It is not me that wants to keep
your wife. How can I help it, if she wants to stay
\j

with me?2 And then Bianco sazid, "It depends upon you
to guide the will of my wife. If vou spesak to0 her proper-
1y she will come back to me," and then Bianco_turned 10
his wife and he said, "Will vou come back to me?

I pray you to come Lack %o me," and she said, "No, I
don't want to return to you, you nausedus c¢reature,"
and she spat out. Bianeco said, "What have I done to
you. Have I done any wrong to you? What for did you
spit at me? What for did you speak to me in such

an outregeous mamer? We have lived together eight or
nine years and what is the reason you are entirely
changed ageinst me?" She only continually anawered
words to the effect that she aidn’t want to return to
him, and she said,; "What for are you always here to
bother me?" And she spat against him and said that

she didn't want to return.

I remember when Mrs. Bianco left the house of

Bisnco, I don't remember the exact date. It was after

Bertolini had left Bianco's house; he went to live in
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Cherry Street. After his wife left him Bianco stayed
with me Tor the first five or si x noghts; he was all
‘upset and appeared as if he were crazy or insane; and sco
out of pity for him, I have kept him in my.house, so that
he might c¢alm himselfl down. He declined eating and
every comfort and complainaed of pains in his head.
During the night he arocose from his hed and welked about
the room, muttered to himsell, and always cried, wept.
I had him put out because of his condition, he was z
bother and & trouble, and kesides that, we were afraid
of something that might happen, because his condition
was so abnormal, so far as his mental condition
was concerned., After he left my house he went to 73
Mulberry Stre=st , annd stayed with Antonioc Lucente who
hails from Abruzzo. At the time when Bianco had the
talk with Bertolini that I have describted, he was kneeli
ing dowr. H e was always erying. His fare was that o
a man who had upset himself from crying an:d pain.

I heve been interrogated by Mr. O'Hsare. I went to
his office four or five times, dbut only had a chance
once to be examined. When Bianco and his wife were
boarding at our house, he would give his wife his ear-

nings every Saturday, six or seven dollars.
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CR0OSS EXAMINATICN:

I live at 74 Mott St. I have been in the couniry
4 and /2 vears. I knew Bianco and his wife and Bertolin
in Italv. I don't remember the wife's maiden name
it might be Ferrera. I knew -her mother, brother and
sigteyr but not the father. I knew her three or four yeas
vefore Bianco paid court to her. I did not hear any-
tihhing cof Bertolini paying tourt to her, becsuse the
conditicn of the company was so Tar below his a that it
was not propey for him to pay courtshiy tc her. It was
the Tamily deeided that she should marry Bianco.

I never knew if the wife and Bertolini were friendly

in Italy. I never saw them togethers, Bianco is
r

in this country about three years. As a matter of
course I was pressnt - at the marriage of Bianco,

because it was & small place. The marviage took

place four years before my arrival in this countrye.
They were 2bout eignt years married a2t the time of the
killing. The first time Bianco arrived in this country
he went to live with his cousin Antonio Bertolini at

212 Mulberry Street. Theee or four months alter he

coame he lived in my house. He lived withh me four and
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2 half or five months before his wife came over. I don’'t
rememper the presise time when she came here. Berto-—
1ini came about six months after her. At the time of his
arrival Bianco and wife were living at 18 Franklin
Street. I think they lived in Frankliin Street three
months not more, Bertolini lived with them there

for about one month. They lived peacably there, hecause
Bianco considered Gabrielle Bertolini as his god father.
They parted two_months afterwards and Beritclini took
Rianco's wife with him and they went to live at the
house of Antonio Gatto in Cherry Street; and ithén he

took the woman to the house of Guiseppe Monso, 19

Che rry Streat, whers the killing took place. At the

time ithat Bevtolini and Rianco's wife were living there

i cailed there twice. A week or so after the separation
they came to my house one morning. It 3 on a week da ¥y
I was =& fikiend of Biancoe's as well as octhers, and
he happened to call there, at the same time. Itvwas
a general conversation with me, my wife and thie other
people. Bianco, as soon as he entared the room aw

his wife and Bertolini and said, "Leave my'wife

alone;, give me back w my wife; I cannot ind rest or
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slesp ¥ This is what Bianco

without her". and Bertolini s=aid

Aske her 1if she wants to go with

wants to kKeep vour wife.% Bianco

don't hav any intimacy with her.

de not insist with her then she w

Nothing elise said.

that occasion sbout two hours. B

wite vremained there w the whole ¢

was talked about, except aboutr Bi

wifes back Tfrom Bertolini.

o ta’k to his wife and induce h

24

1t they had lived together for

for she treated him so badly. He

regquents +to my wifee. a

thing on  that oceasiown There w

oY

[ 2

ment hecauss everybody was so0 tr

were of suchnn a nature, that they

tainment. No threat was passed e

of Bianco to his wife or anybody

"Let us o out together,

such talks in my house, such

saide-~-

Bianco remained

HFe sometimes

I am Gwnnappy

, "There vouy wife".

It is not me that

ill coms back to me.".

i

3
3

i my hnouse on

ertolini and Rianco's

ime.,

No thing else

anecoc trying to get his
requested me

er to come back, saying

eisht vears, and what

also addressed his

inner or wine or any-

as nc oceasion for treat

oubled, and the talks
did not admit of enter—
ither on the Bpart
else. I said to
because I dori't like to

troublesome conversa-—
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tions" We left Bertolini and Bianco's wife in the house
behind us. We did not find them there when we came
bach . We walked to the corner of Canal and Hester
Strests. We were tzalking about the same thing and he
again rezcommended me to sez if I eould induice his wife
to return to him, and I promised to do my best. We
talked quietly. The walk took about a quarter of an hour
Biunco stayed at my house that day. He d4id not eat any
dinner, but took twe glasses of water. He rested his
head in his hand and leaned on the table. Be 4did not
eat even at s.apper time. He remained there to sleéeep
that night. He got up in the morning and went out of
the house without my knowing of it. He returned in
an hour or so and I noticed that he wept and sighed.

His face was nale, as itawas at all times.

RE DIRECT EXAMINATION:

He was =always pale after his wife left him.
Before his wife left him he had a color, dbut then he
was & little pale in color because his hea th was not

perfect. He worked indoors.
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ANTONIO GATTO, a witness ior the dsfense, S HOTIL,
testified:
DIRECT EXAMINATION:

My occupation is a paper : X dealer, and 1
reside at Newbiirgh, New York. o In the montn of May, 1388
I resided at 488 Pearli Street, and had a place of bu-
inegss there. I was then acguainted witn Antonio
Bianco, and with Gabrielle Bertolini, and with Bianco's
wife, I was acquainted witih them almost since thev
landed in this country. I amme here before they 4aid.
Antonio Bisnco came herse first. I think his wife came
about five months later. I remember well when she aryri-
veda. I think theyv used to live in GFranklin Strest.
I don't know the number. I visited Mrs., Bianco when
she landed here because I wanted to hear some news from
whe ©ld country. I knew thera in the old country,'but
I was only a smalil boy. I did not exchange visits thers.
While they were in Pranklin Stret I visited them sev-
eral times. I generaliy visited them on Sunday, because
it was my day--most ever Sunday I visited them. I never
saw any difference between the man and . nis wife; they

were living as a man and wife should live. The child
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was living with them too. When Bertolini came here
he first came to my house, and afterwards we nad somse
dinner together, as he was my schoolmate in the old
country, we wnt also to see some friends. He told me
tha£ ne was going to sez the Volpe Brothers. I went
to visit the house when Beriolini Dboarded with the
Riancos. Two Sundays afterwards I went over there and
I saw a little bit of a difference with Bianco's wife.
She =zz2id to me that she did not obey ner husbagﬁ as she
did when I was there before. Every worHd her husband
said she gave a cross rernly 1o, I should judge that
it was fifteen or tweniy days aiter that that Berto-
ilin:i left the house. She went with him---they came to
my house the first night atrter they left. I did not
know where Bertolini's bed was moved to after he left
Biancc's house. I was not at home whean they swame to
my house that evening, I ca@e in later. I did not
communicate to the dsfendant what occurred that night.
Bianco's wife and the c¢hild remained there that nignt.
Bertolini went away, I suppose, because I didn't see
n the house, when I got home. I 4id not éell Bianco

afterwards any talk that I had with his wife or Rerto-




WY ae WeLiakih & &

ORIGINAL

lint. Mrs. Bianco stayed at my houss one night. Thie
next day I put her out. This was when I lived in
Cherry Street, No. 21. I did not sese where.-she went
but they told me she went away. I saw the de fendant
four or five days later. He asked me what I knew abou:
his wife, and I told him what I knew. My wife told me
that Rertaiini fetehed his wife t5 my house, and when
I got nome that night it was too late; I 4did not want
to prut her and the child out in suchr a ¢old night. It
was about 11 o'clock when I got nome. I said, "You can
stay heve to-night.Y So I told him that "But to~-mory»ow
morning I want you to get out ot the house because
I camot keep you here." Bianco put his hands to his
head, and said, "I don't know, what did my wife want
to do that to me for?Y He said, 1 wculd iike to know
where she is; I want her back again, I could not do with-
out her--my wife and c¢child~-if you will tell me." But if
I knew I wouldn't tell him where she was goOne because
it was none of my business.

I don't know when I met him again after that but
every time I met.him he iLooked to me as if he was a

crazy man; he Jlooked to me so straight for about
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five minutes, and said, "Fo you know where my wife is?"

I didrn't know. I +think I saw him again on the 24tn of
May in the morning. I remember that I moved Ifrom the
place where I was, to 460 PearlinStreet, whers my
business was. I moved on the first of May. I know

it was about the 24th of May that I met him because

the murder was on tnhe 2bthe Bertclini came arcund

once in a whilie to my store; he was there on this occa-
sion when Bianceo came ine Bianco came in while Bartolini
were talking there, and he didn’t say anyithing to me;

he used to talk tc me every time ha came in. He got hold
of one of the weights of the scales, a 2 pound weight, &

and he hit the wsight on top of the scale and muttered

to himself; he was going on like that when I was ialking

to Bertolini. I turned arcund and said, "Look at ¥/
Biance talking to hims21f." He. didn't pay =ny attention
but went on the same wave Then Bertolini said, "I want
to go." I said, " Very well, guod-byev, As soon as
Bertolini got to the door Bianco came on top of him
and said, "Eoid on, I want to spéak to you." Bertolini
said, "I have got nothing to do with you and don't want

to speak to youo He said, "Stop, for God's aake, 1




AW AR P WVLARLE & &

ORIGINAL

have got a few words to say." Bertolini said, "I have gbo
sot notning to do with you at all; I don't want to se=2
yvou." He said, "Why don't you give me the wife ang
child?" Bertolini said, "I don't want 10 heay vou.

I canrnot give you the wife and child." He spoke quickly.
He said to me he wanted toc grab him by the throat.
Bertolini started for the street and Bianco after him

to stop him to talk. He didn't ssem to want to fight,
but he seemed mad to get his wife. He didn't taik

cabout fight.

Onlithe 25th, the day afterwards, there was an
occurrence at my store. It was between e2ight and nine
o'clock, I saw this man with three or four others. He
camg around to the store and I didn't know what to0 make
out of him. At first I thought he had some lawyer with
nim to get his wife back, on agecount of the conver-—
sation he nad before with me. I said, "What is the
matter, and he said, that these people had got hold
of him. I looked around and saw that he was handcuffed.
I said "What have they got hod of you for?" and he said
"They say I have killed my wife," I said, "Did you
do it; what did you do it for?" He said, "I don't know

whether I 4id it or not."
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He said, " Look at me; they have got me tied, hand-
cuffTed. I don't know what they want of me. I want
my wife and child. Did I ever kill her?" When I
saw tlhat he was handcutfed, I knew that they

cers with hime.

CROSS EXAMINATION:

Q. Did you have any talk with Bianco about his wife and
eni*d, anytime before the night she slept in your
wouse? A. No sive. I am a marcied man and have been
married dbouti sgzight or nine years. I have :not found
my wife cross on a occasions, in the way thhat I have
described Mrs., Bianco as being.

Q. Your wige has never been cross with vyou at all?

A. I won't answsr any faniiy affairs at alil.

I don't know the cause of Mrs. Bianco's crcssness.

I had a store at 21 Cherry Street up to the firet of

May when I moved to PBearl Street. I kept a paper
stock store there in Cherry Street. There was no one
else there when Bianco came and asked me where his
wifl= was. I did not tell him tnat his wife stopped one

nisht at my house. . I said I didn't know where his

wife was.
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Q. You didn't know that the telling of that fact by

someone else was the reason of nis going to see you?

A. It may have happened, but I didn 't know it.

He called five or six days after that and asked agsain
whers his wife was. It was only onee or twice that

he called on me in Cherry Strecst. I knew Bianco

onn the other side since we wers bovs. I knew his wife
and Bertolini also since I was a child. It didn't seam
to ma that Bianco was sickly. He was not a tailor in
the oid country. I knew that he followed that trade
hers.

It was the morning of the 24th of May that Berto-
lini visitedrme, between half past eight and nine
o'clock. He remained 3in conversation with me about ten
minutes. Biance was there with the weights in nis nand.
It was not like a grocery scale, but a platiorm scale
with a2 handle on it, and the weights on top. He was
skRaeking his head and talking to himself. I don't
know whzit he was talking =about. There was a man
working in the back of the szorz but not within view of
Bianco. He stovod uniil Bertolini made a motion to go.

I don't know whether he waitad for me and him to finish
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the conversation. I am surz that he said something
about the child, "I want my wife and child" You w took
my wife and child away from me. Why don't you give them
back to me. I diadn't know whether he had been to Cherry
Stre~t and got the cuild that monring or not.

Bianco spoke in Italian. Bertolini went away. Bianco

followed him with his eves and then came back to me.

He stayed thres or four minutes with me and I had =2
convers ; ith him. I toild nim to stay there

littiz while, and he said that he couldn't stay; then

he want away. The next morning he came across Pearl
Street and into the store with these other people.

He said, "I want my wife, my child, these people say

I have killed them." I said, "What for did you do
that?" and he said "I dont know whether I did it or not."

All this happened @n my store.

ROSINA LUCENTI, a witness for the defe nse, sworn, testi-
fied:

I live at 8§n Baxter Sirest, with my father
and mother. Have been living ithere since four or

five montns. In the month of April 1893, I was living
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at 72 Mulberry Street. I lived there with father
mother, I know Antonio Bianco. I was working in a
shop and the wife of Bianco used to come t6 the shop
to taks the linen for washing, and she came +there once

with Bertolini and said it was her cousin. When we made

acquaintance together they came to live with us, and

she came very ofiten. I always see they together.

A short time after that Bianco came, it was five or

six days after they came to our house, and Bianco

tcid me that his wife had left him and he didan't

know whers she went to. He asked to obtain a room to
live in our house. My father t0ld him to come later and
that he would speak to his wife and give him an answer.
My father gave his consent and he came to live witnh us.
He ilived thers two or three weeks, he was alone.

I used to see him in the evening . He retired about
half past seeen or eighi o'elock. He used tO talk zbout
his wife because he was slways in a state like a distur
bed man; and he didn't like either to eat or drink any-
thing; he couldn't rest and he coulan't sleep. The

conversation was just about such a melancholyh matter.

Sometimes we used to addressz him questions, and try
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this for di version, and he didn't understand what we
spuke to him. Sometimes he gave unreascnable answere
whiel: had nothing to do with the ingquiries. We often

szw him that he wept, and he would say, "My wife, what

hast thou done tc me?" He always used to talk about the

child and he would say, " What have I t0 do. How can

I live now". Ee was at & laas about himself. He

would say, "I am a lost man, I den't know what I have

to do without my wife cor wiihout my child." He always
taiked about his wife. He broucht his child over to our
house. He took the son in his arms and clasped him to
his breast snd said," Oh my dear son, you are in my arms,
but your mother is in the arms of another onel Then

then son when he w saw his Tather week, sc he w always
egried with his tather. The child onn such oceccasions

exclaimed "Oh mamma, ch, mamma".

CROSS EXAMINATION:
While he was with us he didn't pay his room rent
He &id not board with us. He said when he earned money
he would pay us but he had nc money then. There w:s not
much worlk for him; he worked off and on. He went

out in the mornings, and he came home evenings aboun
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half past eight or nine o'clock. On the day in which

he did noit work hie partly stood in the doorway, or

he went away., I don't remember whether he smoked or
not. 1 knew him by sight before he came to live at

our hous=. T knew him as the husband of Teresiano. She
worked in the shop with me while Riaznco was living at
out heuse&.

Q. Did you ever tell Bianco that stie worked in the same
shop with you? A. No, I didn’t say anyvthing to him.

I told him that when he came to 1Livz in my house.
Bianco's rocom was on the same floor 25 the ones we

Ppied. My fathsr did not mwerk in the same place

the time. When he was at work he partly remsined

the house and partly remained out. I went to work

seven and goit home at seven in the ewmening. About

8 or ¢ o'clock I used to 7o to sleep. He understood
sometimes whet wWe said and sometimes not. RBianco was

& very little deaf. . I cannot say Whether Bianco

has a waterln or not. I saw a chain. . My Tather

told me th:at £8W a revolver in his room put I was
never in his room and I didn't see it.

My father tcld Bianco that he would nave to pay
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or he would have to 25K him to leave, and
ould see about paving it to-movroew, So he
he was. very much disturneg, and whern he cam
back he ., "I have sold my wateh for $3 here is your
money". 1 was the sameé morning a8 the killing.
The killing took place at halif past eight.
before =zeven, I think when I sa¥% the money
I was about sevaen when I left the house for

work for & weekly salary.

JOSEPH RINALDO, a witness for tne defendant, swor:n, tes-
tified:
I am a barber. I reside 2t 81 Madisén Street

New York On the 25th of May 182923, I remember seeing

the defendant. I metv him in the Tombs Police Court.

He was remanéded back to the staticn house. I had

to pass there about an hour aznd a half atter, and 1
dropped in to the stationnhouse. I know that the
captain was there at the time and two of the ward detec~
tives, and they knew me for an interpreter in the poliwe
court. They said tc the cartain that I could zet as
interpreter for Bianco if they wanted to ask any ques

tions. So the captain called the defendant into his
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room, and I went in there. The captain zsked me to put
a few questions to the defendant whick I diad. I putnthe
question to the defendant, as to whether or not he

shot his wife. I was waiting for the answer and

he was kind of irightened. He was not akle to give

an answer of any kind at =211, He looked wild looking
221 the time. I s=id YDid you shoot your wife?" He
said, "Me, well go ahead and tell me". His answers

were incoeoherent. I asked him one thing and he told me
anpocther. Instead of sayinpg veg or no,'he moved arocund
and said, "I don't know what you say. I don't know

what you mean. I gave the answer to the captain. He said
ﬁe didn't know what he was talking sbout.

I afterwards saw him in the Tombs Prisone. I
remember going into the Tombs but not into the cell;
the prisoner was called downstairs, by the Keeper, on
the reguest oif the officer., I was in company with
Officer Heffernan; he asked me to go there and ask a few
guesticns of Bianco and I went there
CROSS EXAMINATION:

I say thzt this man lucked Trightened and wild.

I don't think I have interrogated an accused person
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more than twice for the police at the station house,

and in the Court Prison. My place of businessg is at

43 Madisopm Street. I have seen men tried on simple
charges and on big charges.

Q. You say that when they commit big crimes they refuse
to answer? A, Yee sivr.

Q. That is what the defendant 4d4id? A. No sir, he answered
me different altogether. I talked to him loud.

J did not ask him his name. I said, "The captain wants

to know if you shot your wife?". Whz2n he heard

my question he said, "What, me shoot my wife" and he
looked astonished and beside himself. I showed him
the revolver and asked him if it was his revolver, and
he didn't answer yes or no. I don't remember saying
anything about a pawn ticket.

Q. Did yeu &sk him any questicn that did net relate to
the c¢rime, the killing? A. No sir, none =zt all.

I copied his gestures now, when I stated what he said.

FRANCIS GUMASI, a witness for the defense, sworn,
testified:
I am a physician. About a year prior to the

25th of May 1893, I was called upon by the defendant
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Bianco. I made a medical examination cof him and of his
condition. I had never seen him before. When the
defendant came to my oi'fice he started to tell me that
he had = pain in the back and.a pain in his leg, and
afterwards in =z Tew seconds these pains were in

the chest; and from his stooping positicn and his syupid
expression, I thought it was insanity. I found that
the brain was Geficient in gquantity, plus the frontal
hemisrhere. His eyves, were feeble and trembling. gouty
locking eyes, which is a physicial symptom in cases

of idicecy. That comes from the fact that he has no
developed, and other reasons. The larynx of thet

man is deficient in proporticn to wideness and strength;
and that is because the idict finds 1t difficult to con-
gert thoughts into words, and because generally +the
lungs of an idict are small. For these reason I made
my opinion of insanity. My diagnosis is based on

that. I thought that the case was congenital or ever-
lasting. I t dAid not think the case would improve.

It may grow worse and worse &s years @O On. He has &
weak brain.

Qe If the fact is that the defendant then was deaf,

would that increase your disgnosis? A. Well not very
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much in that case, but abnormal sexuality doese. His
nervous symtem is generally feeble.

Qe That symptom would produce a tendency tO imbecility
of whieh you have spoken? A. Noct so much as the gouty
eves, deficient lung, and masturbatione. They are the

sirns of idiocye

CROSS'EXAMINATION:

My office is at 118 McDougall Street. I have
been admitted to practice in this state since 1884.
I have practiced in this city, and afterdrads in Calif-
ornda, und sz=fterwards in Missouri, and then I went to
Europe; afterwards I came back here. I practised
medicine in San Francisco. I can't recollect the
steEet. I belong to the medical socigty there. I am
well knovn in San Francisco. I practised in New York
one vear before I went to Califor nia. I =m0t my
grade in ithe New York University Medical School.? I was

admitted in the medical service of the police station in

Elizabeth Street. I studied two years in Belgium and

three and a half years in New York. I had hospital

practice before I was admitted. I was permitted to go

into the private class of Proffessor Stimson in Belle-
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vue Hospital. I made such a study of alienism as the
law of the state required. I am not =z specialist.
HMammond is one of the suathors I studied on that Subject.
While in New York first my office was at 110 Mottt St.

I went to the hospital on Ward's Island four or five
times in = year. I have observed insane patients

the the university every week; we had a clinic there.

I think I have seen 500 there. We had lectures on alien
ism once & week; during the lecture about Ltwehty and
sometimes 30 cases were shown to us. I read and know
what & general practitioner ought to know. I didn't
have anything to do with insane people, at California

or Missouri. I was three years in London and didn’t
have anything to do with insane veople there; then

I went to Brussels, and then I came back here. I met
very few insane ©people heré. I caﬁe back here in 1821.
1 have been at 373 Broome Street, @#nd now I am in
MeDougail Street. I would not treat insanity bnat

I think I could make =& diagnosis. I never treated a2 sin-
gle case of insanity in my life.

Q. You never personelly treated anybody for mental aber-

ration whatever? A. I can't say that.

Qe When you discovered that this man's mind was out of
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order, you declined to treat him, didn't vou? A.
A. No? I prescribed for him for idiocy.

I do not keep any cother register except this
prescription book. The defendant came about three
or four times to my house, and I went to see him once
tc his house; he was living at that time with Bertolini,
™, somevhere in Mulberry Sireest, I couldn't say the
numbexr. His wife was not here at that time. I made
him tell me, that he masturbsated. In regard 1o how ofl-
ten he did it, I don't think he told the truth. He
was ashamed to tell it.
Q. Did you ever know an idiot to have any shame on
that subject? A. Well it may be.
@. Did you discover that his unwillingness 1o tell you
that he was addicted 10 that secret vice was an evidence
of insanity? A. Well it is a sign of timidity, but
I can't say--—-

Q. Timidity is not an essential characteristice of insane

people, is it? A. It is more apt to be timidity in

a weak adult than ip a strong man. At first he denied
that he masturbated. I made no examination of his

genitals. I think masturbation is cne of the causes

that increased his expression, or aggravated it. I think
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that man is & congenital idioct, and I think masturbation
inereases it. When 2 man masturbates it will cause
him tc dream, and eventually he gets no nutrition from
the rights centres and all the nutrition goes 10 the
centres of imagination. I had read before in the
books thsat the main symptoks of idiocy were deficiency
of the frontal lobes, weakness of the voice, the lungs
are weak, and there is always abnormal sexuality.

I got from the exsmination that the brain was deficient
I found thne other signs, and he admitted t9 me that

he masturbated when he'was a boy zand 4id it still.

I dtoid him to send for his wife, otherwise, he couldn't
get vbetter. A sane man could not commit self abuse
to the excess indicated in this man's persconal appear-
ance. I prescribed eod liver 0il to strengthen ap

his system, and told him to have his wif2 home; I didnot
indicate any necessity Tfor a2 substitute. I thougnt

the cod iiver o¢il would =zct on the nervous system

as & topic. His facial angle is under the normal; 80
is the nfacial angle. I based the conclusion tnat his
quant ity of brain matter was insufficient, from the

judgment of my eyes. Weak voice is always an accom-
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paniment of idiocy. My definition of idiocy is that i:
is a detieciency of the mental function from ithe nor-
mal standard. In rer-ards to his symptoms, I think that

onaniasm is a consequence of these things--the effect.

RE DIRECT EXAMINATION:

I 2m oun the Staff of the New York Dispensary, at
157 Centre Stirset, J am tithere about thnres years now,
and I was svhere in 1384 and 1885 when I forst practissd
here. The Governors there have nsver Tound fabklt with my
knowladgs. Dr. Cotton is the chief of:staff there.
I am there from.lz to 3, and beifore I go there I have
district work from three to four o'clock daiiye.
When I said that he presented a generzal neurssthenic
appearance,; that is the Greek for f{eebleness, oI the
nervous systerm. But a few mean by it nothing but a
feebleness of the spinal cord.
I used it in the general sense. He had wandering
pains and those are characteristic of feebleness cof
the ngrvous system. I did not say that the pains got
into nis head. My practice is mainly with Italians.

I amm a native of Italy.
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ALFRED J. THOMAS, =z witness for the defendant, sworn

testif'ied:

DIRECT EXAMINATION: i

I am a ecloak manufacturer, In the month of
July 1892, I knew Antonio Bianco. He was a workman for =

me . I found him to be a very mood, willing, honest young

man, a man who would not flineh from anything I asked him
to do, and I always asked him to do b nothing but

what was rizsht. He was always willing to do any

tittle job, that I thought ought to be done. Sometimes
he would be asked to stay over time, and he would get

praid for that, but thers was no time that he asver veted

anything eise but in £0od behaviour. EHe wasg always
neat and his hair was nicely combes. His syes were

bright, and his color was such as of =a Person who had

nothing on his mond. He left my employment in the month
off July 1893, I laid him off because the season was

over; we have to leave thers off for a faw Wezks until the

seasen is ready to 70 On,

CROSS BEXAMINATION:

The length of time in our season varies.
Surmer season is about four or Tive months, At

time I saw the defendant he looked bright, neat
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intelligent etc.

GUISEFPPE GENTILESCO, a witness for the Defense, sworn,
testified:
DIRECT EXAMINATION:

I reside mt 19 Cherry Streex. I am a lager heer
salgon owner. I was there in the month of May 1893%.
One of my tenants was Guiseprpe Monso. I had a con-

versation with Monso in the latter rart of April.

GUISEPPE MONSO, recalled for further eross examina-—
tion testified:

CROSS EXAMINATION:

R Did you assist in carrying a bead, or 4id you carry

2 bunlile belonging to Bertolini, to your house, from

Mrs. Bianco's house? A. The Biapeo woman had another
pPerson Lo take Bertoclini's things from the house where
they were, and to fsten them in my house, and she herselif
carried a part; but she had another person charged to

take Bertolini's things Ffrom the housa where they were

and fetch them to my house. I carried nothing. I dig

not assist. I accompanied the peromw from CPrankiin
Strest to Cherry Street; he carried the things. The

man carriad the things up to the rooms on his shoulders.
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GUISEPPE GENTILESCO, his direet examination being
resumed, testified:

I saw a man carrying a mattress on his shoulders
up the stairs, and Monso was carrying a littlie bundle
undeyr his arm. I didn't know whose bundie it was.

Q. Do you know whose mattress it was? A, To be sure, I
know it belonged to the dead one. Monso tolid me before

that he wanted to take in his apartments his country

peorle.

FRANK MONSOQ, a witness for the defense, testirfied:
DIRECT EXAMINATION: '

I am sixteen yvears ol age. I am two years in
this countve. I remember Bertoiini on tiie other side.
He gave me a letter to deliver to Mrs. Bianco I read
it as socn as I arrived here or a day later. He gave
me instruetion how to deliver the letter to Mys.
Bianco. I never communicated the contents of the

etter after the desertion of the wife and child.

It is during the trial, conceded by the pros-

ecution to save time as to testimony of witn-

nesses, that the deceased SZGabrielle Bertolini
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left Italyv and came to New York, for the pur-
pose of having illicit relations with Mrs.

Bianco, wife of the defendant.

DOMENICO MARTONI, a witness for the Defsnse, sworn,
testified:
DIRECT EXAMINATION:
I reside at 251 Mulberyry Street, aznd am a

tailor. I know the defz2ndant Bianco. During the
vear 1893, he was working with me up to the month ot May
the 14th or 15th of May. He had besn working for me =a
couple of montns before th=at. I don't know whsther he
was living with his wife when he came to work for me.

I did not notice any thing pecuiiar in his actions.

In the first month he was all right, but in the month

of May be began tomchange his ways, to be unattentive
and to week, to cry, and when I asked him what was the
matter, he said that he had sent for his wife who was in
Italvy, but when she came over here, then she lost her
affcetion for him, and wanted to attaéh herself to
Bértolipi. He was earning by me a good salary,
because he was a2 good worker. he earned from\S to $9o

a week; that was in the end of April and the beginning
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ot May. He was always ahsorbed and not thinking ol

t what he had to attend to, and he was always wandering
with his eyes and when I recormmended to him to mind
his business, and do certain work, ne did not do it

any move with that attention. So that I was compelled
to dismiss him. I invited nim sometimes to0 take some-~
thing to eat but he never wanted anything. He was the

£

whele day crying, on account of the treachery of nis
wifs, whom he loved, and who did not corresponddto ths
fesling. He impaired the work that I gave him; he was

a damzge to my customeré; he did good work before.

I discharged nhim a couple of weeks before the killing.

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I am an employing tailor. At the present time
my shop is at 251 Mulberry Streot. In april and May
1893, my shop was in Marion Street/ I had four people
wvorking for me at the time. The work was done at my
house. I did not keen books. Bianco worked at hemming
and basting jackets. He worked every day in the month
of April.. He left in May because his work was not of

any use to me. About that time it is the season of

stoppage of work, but we always continue to work in =a
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certain way,; we always work on t what is called "skirning
work without linings. My other operators continued to
work. I gave him two reasons for his discharge; one was
that the season was dull and the other, that his work
was not satisfactoryve. He and I had wovrked together

be fore that in other shops. I had never seen him

worx t at that kKind of work before.

ANTONIO BERTOLINI, a witness for the defendant, sworn,
testified:
DIRECT EXAMINATION:

Imam a botton maker and reside at 212 Mulberry Street
My place of business is thers also. I employ men and
women. When Antonio Bianco first eame 1uv this country
he worked for me, and lived with me. About one year
after, his wife was also employed by mew. They worked
with me four month, two togsther; that was in 1893.
Bianeco found opportunity to better his condition
by working in another shop; he and his wife were then
in good harmony.

Cross examination.
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ANTONIO LUUENTI, =2 witness for the Defense, sworn,
testified:
DIRECT EXAMINATION:

I live at 809 Baxter Street. I am the father of
Rosina Lucenti. I know Bianco. My business is pushinga
hand cart. In the month of April and for a while in
May the defendant occupied pari of cuy apartments.

He was to pay $3. a month; it was agreesd that he should
ray in advance but he 4did not. One movrning he came to
my house and I was sick and he inquired for my daushter
and asked her if she had seen his wife, and my daughter
said, "Why?" and he said "Because she fled, she run away
she abandoned me, and I don't know where she went, and

I should like to 1ive in your house," s0 he took

lodging in our house, but he didn't pay, and I saw him
always confused. He occupied a room in our place for
twoo of three weeks; he worked one wesk] the two weeks DE
preceeding the killing he had no work. I have seen
him offf and on in the morning and evening and some times
during the day. He acted like a crazy man, ke

was always talking with himself. He said, "How unfor-

tunate I am; I love so much this woman. I sent her
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money for support while she was in Italy, I sent her
money to come over here. I 4did everything for her ang
than t she has to betray me, and then he ejaculated al-
ways in regard to this idea which he had in his mind; he
always cried. I remember the evening that he brought

the child to the house. He was fondling the child and

saying, Y Oh my desar Child, you are now on my breast,
and thy mother is within the arms of that rascal."

T told him, "My Dear Mir. Bianco, you have now your
child and I am a poor man, and I don't know how we
can get along. We need money badly.2 and then he

Promised to pay me the following day. I resolved to

rut him ocut of the house, because I could find no

rest, with the man in the housc. He walked continually
during the whole night; amd the more the night had passed

the more disquiet he became and the more fretful,

The night he brought the child he did not sleep; he
was walking continually. The nild slept with thne
father; that was fhe ni nt of the 24th of May 1893..
On the morning of the 25th he got up and he was wild
looking in his eyes and in a state ol astonishment.

I told him I wanted to be raid; but he didn't give

me any answer, and a short time after he came back
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and said that he had pawned nis wateh. He threw the
$3 away in a wild manner without saying anything further.
He looked 1ike an unchained devil. He didn't say
anything about the child. The child remained with me
for two months. When he left the house he left like a
stray dog; his eyes were wild and his mind was fixed,
as if it wers fixed into astonishment, and he was ail
confused and he went running away like a dOg. During
the time that he lived with me, I saw him have, two
or three times, a weapon. Twice I saw him with =a
revolver in his pocket. I saw it in his poecket and conce

on the table in his roome.

CROSS EXAMINATION:

I go around with a basket, not a push cart,
In the month of May 1893, I lived at 73 Mulberry St.
I had never seen Bianco before the morning when he came
and spokes to my daughter. That was toward the =nd of
April. I didnot ask him where he had lived befcre.
It was in the morning that he First came there. He
came in connection with the fact that he knew that his
wife was at work in the same shop where my daughter

was working, and so he came there to inquire of my
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daughter, if she knew anything azbout his wife. He hvsaid
that he had no housekeeping and that if we would
please take him, he would like to livé with us. He had
a starnge lookmthat morning and I didn't atitack much
importance to it that morning because I was sick and I
had no reason to suspect him. I asked him for $3. =a
month, and he did not iry to beat me downe. He said hne
worked as a tailor but I did not know where he worked.
I was in bed and could not show him the room so
my daughter showed it to him. He agreed uron the ray-
ment of $3. a month and ne didn't say anything else.
Sometimes I asked him to pay the money and he said,
"Oh leave me in peace, leave me a2lone. My head is all
disturbed and aching. The first week he said that he
worked , but then the times were dull and he didn't
work any more. The man never rested. I heard him walk
in the room and he spoke to himself and it disturbed
great deal. I cocul!ld not understand what he said;
because he muttered to himself. He never said any-
thing about killing V Bertolini and his wife.
ft was when he was in my hous2 that I saw the revolver.
It was one with apshining barrer but I don't know

whether it was the same onu o note. I didn't observe
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whether it was loaded or not. I never told imim he had
10 go away. I never had the courage to do that , because
I kxnew he had no money. He brought the child home

the day before the killing, ;t was in the evening; it mus
mist have been between eight and nine o'claock. He
Pemained all night, and the next morning he got up

and paid me and went out, and I didn't see him any more.
He returned and in ten minutes, then he threw the money
at me and ran away like a wild animal. When he Cc ame
out oif his room, I said, "Anténio you musi pay me¥, and
ne ran outr like a tiger and returned znd threw the

money at me. He did not take a reeceipt for the $3..

I did not ask him why he didn't sel! his rRvolver)

I dicdn't ask hiwm anviaiog.

REBUTT AL .
JOEN J. AARON, a witness for the People, in rebuttal,
sworn, testified:
I am a pawn broker doing business at 191
Grand Street. I was in business there on the 23rd of
May 1893. I keep books containing a deécriptian

of the pledges &c, and such other facts as are re-
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quired by law. The pawnticket now shown me is one
that was given out for a rledge at our place. Upon
locking at my book I find that it is =& rledge of =

watceh, $3.50 made lmy Antonio.

TIMOTEY RING, a witness for the People in rebuttal,
sworn, testified:

I am an officer of the Municipal Police Force
assigned to the Fourth Precinet; I was assigned there
on the 2Z4th of May, 1893, I remember the arrest of
Bianco for the killing in Cherry Streect,. I first saw
him in the house where the killing happensd. Officer

Heffernan was there. I did not £0 with the officer,
but I went to the station house. I followed after the
Prisconer. I was in the premises between 9 and 10
o'clock; it was in the rear upstaire on the top floor.
The defendant was there.Bertolini was lying on the
couch alongside the window, and the wife of Biancc
was lying on the floor. It was broad daylight. The
defendant sat on the stove and Officer Beffernan had
him handecuffed. He looked down with his eyes and then

loaked over to the window where the man was lying. He
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would look down to the wife.who was dead and then

look over to the fellow, and mutter something to him-
self which I could not understand; it was in Italian.
His eyes were bulged ocut; they had a kind of a fright-
ened look. I saw him afterwards in the station
house. He was not muttering to himseld then.; he had
the ssme appearance however., I did not see him when
he was brought before the Sergeant. He is a very
different leoking man to-day from when I saw him. He
is changed; he is very thin and haggard looking in

the face. The day I saw him he didn't look ithat way o

He had & ﬁild unsettled : ook and he appeared to

me as if he were dazed.

CHARLES I.. NEUMANN, a witness 1f'or the People, in
revuttai, swoern, testified:

I live at 7 Mbnroe Street. On the 24th of
May 1893, I lived at 1’ CHerry Street wheme I kept

2 butcheyr shop. I remember the 25th of May. I saw

the defendant ang Officer Heffernan when he w arrested
him. ~The officer caught him behind the trucks; I don't

know what he was doing there, he was not running.
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I saw him first when the officer brought him back

theough the hallway. I saw him behind the trucks
his chain was hanging down and he had no hat on.
He looked kind of pale. My shop was opposite to
No/’lg; I could not move Trom the shop; it was a bad

neighborhood.

CROSS BXAMINATION:

I had never =zeen the man before that time,
I remembeyr him very well if I see him.
CARLOS TF. McDONAID, a witness for the Pecple,
buttal, sworn, testified:

I am a physician and heve been a specialist
in mental diseases fTor nearly twenty five years. I
have been connected with asylums and hospitals for the
insane almost continuously since 1870 and an assist-
ant physician and medical superintendent up to 1889,
sinece which time I have been president of the State
Commission of Iunacy in this State. I was in the Flat-
bush Asylum and subseguently State Superindendent of
the Asylum at Auburne. I was a short time at the

Binghamptom Asylum, and since 1889 have been connected
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with the
with all
asymums .

insanitye.

annually,

state Board of Lunacy, & body haviag:.-connection

cases over the sitate in both public znd private
thousand cases on

I have treated several

I see a large number of insane pecple

visiting all the

asylums twice

a year

and

there being about in round numbers 18.0C0 insane persons

in custody in the State. I do not examine =zall those

cases, I only examine cases about which aquestions are

or obscure or doubiful cases.

A hypothetical guestion was then put to this

raised,

-

witness, which empbodisd z full descripticon

of all the occurrences and conditions testi-

fied to in the case.

b4

Q. Upon that statement carl you say wnat was the menta:

condition of the person who Tired the shots on the 25th

ofr May 1893?

A. My answey to that would bhe, that there is nothing

in the gquesticn as I understand it, that would warrant

me in expressing the opinion that the supposed indi-.

vidual was insane. My answer is based entirely, of

course on the question. I do not know anything more

about the case than I have learned just now.
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CROSS EXAMINATION:
I would not undertake to repeat that guestion
now from memory, vet I have answered it; I have
followed it through. The ideas of it which would
impel me to answer are, that in following the question
through from beginning to end, there are no statements
made that suggested to my mind the presence of insanity
in the supposed individuals, or in other words, symptoms
of insanity. I watched for eveidence of insanity in
the case, as it was related by the District Attorney
from beginning to end.
. When I use the term mental disturbance, I mean by
something more than a momentary mental disturbance
or a mental disturbance die 1o exciting causes, such
as intoxicaticon or something of that kind. Mental
conditions or mental disturbances do not come within
the preper definition of insanity.
Q. Have you ever heard the phrase, "Intoxication of
griefe? A. Yes; it is = figurative expression,
Inthink prolonged grief and brooding asre recognized
causes of insanity in some cases.

Q. If the evidence showed that from the time +the wife
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deserted him the husband continually brooded, and went

about asking his friends to bid his wife return and kneel

ed down in. the Prasence of the alléged seducer, kissed

his hand and beggea him, and then went away and brooded

over the circumssances; dig not, a2t times, eat;

would complain of his head; who was discharged from his
emplovment by reason of his inability ang by reason
of' those pains in his head, and his muttering at his
work and so on, ta discharge his duties. Woula noﬁ that
make a difference in your statement. Would not that
impwress you as an intoxication of srief?
A. It would rroperly be an exidence of arisf., . In
the case of a man disposed to imbecility, I should not
éxpect that it would have as marked an effect t0 induce
insanity than in one who was ofrakeenér - -intellect.

I have read the work of Dr. E. C, Mann, on

insanity. I do not regard¢ it a very high authority

on insanity. He has written a good dezal; he has charge

of & small private sanitarium. I do noct think he is

regarded as a high authority among alienist physicians.

The fact that h@s w book is contained in every library

would not change my opinicn of it.

I think the brooding and worriment of mind ang
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grief and anxiety are well recognized causes of insan—
ity. When -Mann says; on page 108 of his book, that;
Temporary insanity by great emotioconal disturbance &e¢ &c.
I don't think he refers to itemporary insanity, that is
momentary insanity.

The autheority Dr. Hammond is recogniwzed as such
among asylwn physicians; not a very high authority.

He had never been connected with any asylum +to my
knowledge. Intelligent znd competent physicians who
have a large experience in the care and treatment of
the insane, and have constant contact with them such
as they have in hospitals for the insane, would
naturally be more competent to discuss the subject than
those who have hot.

Q. Do you agree with Boswell, when he says, that, De~
privation him of accountability of
hié act ? A. It seems tO0 me that is = legal gues-
tion. I do not undertazke to say what is the egal
excuse or justification for = crime.

Q. Would long broolling over grief and injuries to the

affections have an influence upon a man under those

circumstances, losing his power of control to govern
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his actions? A. It might do so. I have never
seen the Prisoner before. I have no opinion as the
the prisoners mental condition whatever, I cannot
give an opinion as to his imbecility or want of

apprehension, by lc¢oking now at his face, from a distane

of 25 or %0 feet. I am not so skilled as that. As I
look at him there is nothing that'impresses me that he
is insane. I woulg say without questionv that he is

not an idiot, by locoking at him 30 feet ofrf. Idiccy

is a congenital mental effect, always. Idiccy is not

an acquired "eondition; a Person may be in a mental
conditicn and loss of mindg as complete as an idiot,

but it is an acquired condition; prne known as dementia.

RE DIRECT E XAMINATION:

I have newver heard ot Dr. Gemasi of 108 MeDou~

aall Street as an expert on Insanity.
As I folilewed the case through there were no state
ments of existing conditions that indicated insanity.

€. In a word, there were, ‘all through the case, conditiog

which indicated clear mental activity and sound judg-

ment? A. So far as the case presented itself to my
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mind.

Q. Intelligent action and conduaect? A. Yes sir. .

It would be diffdcult Tfor me to say if there was

,

mental apprehensicn of the act done. In regard to his

entreating the pParamour to use his influence on the wife

sy that would afford, to my mind, no evidence of
irrational condition or conduct. The pawning of the
watch for the landlcrd was a rational response to the
deman &6{ the landlord. The only thing in the question
that suggested a possibility of insanity is sleeplesgw
ness, a frequent accompaniment of insanity. On the
other hand it frequently occurs in sane rersons.
But I repeat that there was nothing in the facts
Presented inconsistent with rerfect sanity.

I agree that there is such a condition a frenzy
‘of insénity, in other words that some insane persons
are in a state pf frenzy; and when in a state of frenzy
they¥yare not in possession of reason or will.

Both sides rest.
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COUTRYT OF GENWEAL SHISIONS.

TO THR HON. U A M R 8 F I %7272 G%RAI. 1,
Justice off the Sessions.

The 'mdersigned, individual jurors, who Jjoined
in rendering the flil verdict of fmailty of Manslaughter
against Antonio Bianco desire 3 8 noindividuaals to re-

< .
commerrri hiwm in sentencs to tihe oxtreme cleomency of the
Conrt. THRede of the jury were at ithe carly assemblage of
the juary in Tavor of acquitiing him by reasocn of his ir-
responsinility. We nvge ti lightest sentence nhecalise of

least & doubt as to his resyponsinilion iy an the indicted
anird becanse of the ewlreme provocation ndey whieh
acted; adding that as we understaiid the Fnplish Law ol

Homicide always to have been that provocation was a mitigat-

ing circumstance in oestimating by verdict or sentence the

g <
LA IILR. é 2398 220 J‘f%

I Firee /f/ .
#
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’ Coroners’ Office.

N CITY AND COUNTY }ss
OF NEW YORK, .

M @MC—/Z" ....being duly examined before the under-

signed, accmdmw to law, on the annexed c.hal ge; and being informed that he was at
liberty to answer, or not, all or any questions put to him, states as follows, viz:

Question. What is your name?
- o /

Question., How old are you ?

Answer. M 6—"6’//1/0

Question.  Where were you born ?

Answer. Wa} é/L/M <9/ “‘%
Qrestion. Where do you live?

b, — P 78 i u,éé,e/zxkf o7
Question. What is your occupation ?

\
Answer, ‘\7&‘—"-/6‘/\;/

QQuestion. Have you anything to say, and if so, what—relative to the

aswer.,

charge here preferred against you?

47,,3,,067-. Dﬂ = 74—’ lew .\ g B & c?—7
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Coroners'® Qffice, lew York County,

In the Matter of the Ingquest into the
Deatl:

BR e T o
1OM., JOIMT B
and

- Of -

TERESE ELISE BIANOCEI AMD GCARRIELLE
RERTOLIMNOC,

S 29 W 00 W 28 d B¢

Mew York, June 206tl:, 1883,
10,30 A, ¥,

Appearances 3 My, O'Hare, wrepresenting
the Digtrict Attomney's Office, appezrs for thre

Paople; Mr, c, ¥, Kinsley, for the Priscner,

OFPFICER PI'ILIP HEFYERIAN, duly sworn;
BY THE QORONER:-
Q What precincet are yoa from?
The 4th Precinct,
The place where this occurred is on your post?
Yes, " s‘]’.’r'.
Wgr’é you on post at the time? A Yes, sir'.
é:;;a"t;e to the jury what you know of thé oseurrenae?
I was standing in Cherry Street about half past 8
on the 25th of May, and I saw the prisoner running across

the street betwecen the truecks and I grabbed him, and he

-3
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carmot gpeak very good English and two men came across
and told me he shot somebody in the Alley , and I went
there aﬁd there was a man sititing on the lounge, ard he
had kis hand on hisg stémach, and said e wag after ghoot-

ing him, and he pointed to a woman on the floor, and said

e skot her, and I found this revolver on the steirg znd

I went to the station house and got an ambulance, and
O0ffiecer MeClury, they sent me back again, znd when I got
back the woman was dead , and the man died that night,

BnY ?-.-il'x". O 'HARE: -

Q Have you got the revolvere? A Yes, siQ.

Q Is that the condition in which vou found ité(produc—
ing revolver) A Yes, sir; the woman gave it %o me
with six shells empty,

Q pid it have the appearance of having been recently
dischargedé A It did.

Q Was 1t hot? )

A Yes, sir‘.

Q Smok e coming Trom the barrel?

A No, sir; but the barrel was blzek at the timé.

BY MR, KIVSLEY:=~

(] How was the man dressed? A e was dressed in an
undershirt and vest,

Q I mean the man who was shot?
vA ves, sir; just 8 vest and shirt eand pants on, sitt-

ing on the lounsze,
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ROSA GINTILESCO, duly sworn:
BY THE GORONER:- |
Q Where do you live? A 19 Chrerr»y Street ,
Q Did you know Rertolino? A By aet of coming in

and out,

Q Were you there the morning this happened?
A Mo, sir,
Where were you? A In my own house;
But you were in 19 Cherry Strecet?

ves, sir,

Wiiat do you know about the shooting? A I don't

know -~ I went in when I heard the quarreling,

Q Tell the jury what you knowé A I didn't hear any-
thing right away, but only ahout the r»mrder, that is all.
Q .You went into the room , you sayf A Yes, sif.

Q What were the parties in the room doingf A They
were not doing anything, one was laying on the floox, and
the other was gitting on the sofé.

Q Dia you speak to them? A I says, "What is the
matter with you®v; he says, " Go for a doctor please, .
the woman is deadé. So I ran down again, znd me and
the others went up stairs, and the man thay made the rur-~
der, he woent up there snd got arrested.

Q Did the man on the lounge say who shkot him?

A Yes, si?.

Q Who did ke say shot hime A They didn't say any-
body who ghot hiﬁ.

BY MR; O "HARE: -

Q@ You lived on the 25th of May last on the same floor
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with Bertolino and Mrg Bianchi? No, Bir; I lived in

tke front rooms in 21,
Q is that another part of the Alley? A It is on e

part of it, it goes in through. I live in 21,

Q Whrere did you live on the day of the slooting?

‘A In +the front roomes and Mrsg, Bianchi and EBartolino

lived in the back;

Q@ Did you hsar any gquarrel? A o, sif.

é You said you dide A After I went in;

Q@ ¥hy &id you go in? A ¥ heard people hollering in
the yard;

Q Did you heaf any plstol shots? A No,“sif.

Q Wren you went in whom did you find? A Trhe lady
and man lying down.

Q@ VWho were they? A The two persons who were dead
one wag Mrs; Biancki snd the other was Rertolino.

G Bertolino was ®8till =z=livee? A Yes, sir,

Q And_Mrs; Bianchif A she was moviné.

Q@ And she asked you to go for ths doctor? A No, the
man asked me,

Q piad Mrs; Bianehi say anythingé A Yo, sir; not a
word;

Q Will you tell us in what position she wésé A Lay-
ing on the back, she was moving every other way;

Q VWhere did you see Bertolino? A On the 10ung§.

Q@ Mrs. Bilanecki was on the floor writhing§ A Yes, sir;
Q 'flease tell us what you said to Mrs. Bianchri?

A I diidn't say anything. |

Q Wratt did you say to Rertoline? A I didn't speak

to khim eithrer,
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Q Were you the only person in the room?

A No, sir; the officers was there and Ler husband.

Q Tre defendant heres A phat i8 the defendant, yes,
sir, ard soms more people came in, I d:n'% know who they

were,
Q Was this before or after - the officer was in Lhe
roam? A Ygs, sif.
Q@ And he Iad charge of tie defendant§ A Yes, sig.
" Q@ What did Reriolino say in your hearing? A The
" officer asked him wk® mkwt kim "Who slkot vou", and he
didn't say who, I didn't hear him who I:e did say; he
said, ¥ You are the man who toak thirty doliars For vour
T wife,®
& Bertclince sald tkis to the defendanté A Yes, sir,
"but the husband said, ¥ You was the man what took my wife
away, and came across the Oesan to be killed off my hand";
" Trhat is all;
Q ¥e seala that in YItalian? A ves, sir; and I ex-
rlained it %o the officef,
Q " He sald, " You crossed the ocean to take away my wife
T and get killed at my handeé A Yes, si?.
Q@ That was said by Bertolinoé A Qes, sif.
Q@ And the statement you have made is a translation of
what Blanchl sald to Bertolinoé A ves, sif,
Q@ Bertolino was sitting on the sofa? A Laying on the
bed;
" Q" It was in the outside sitting roomf & ves, si?.
€ Huw wag Bertolino dressedé a Well, he had his
" pants and skirt oﬂ.

Q His pante were buttoned - did he have suspenders on¢?

-5
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o, asir; ke had only a shxkpi -1re -suspenders,

Did he rhave his ghoes one A N0t as I recollect,

You don't rememher whether ke did 2y not?

MNo, sir,.

A

Q

Q You don't say he did not? A I don't kno&.
Q

A

Q

Wiien Mf. Rianehi, the Priscner, said that +o Bertolino
LBorteline gnswer after Rianeckhi said, " You came
aeross to take my wife, and to be shrot at my hands©e?
Wrat did nertolino say? A we didn't say anything,
Q And you tol@ the officer DPraecisely wiat you stated
now é A Yes, éif,
Q@ »Nid you rear the officer ask Bertoline wko shot rime¢
A Mo, sir,
Q You were ” the timee A I was not there
at the time,
Q Who else was present st e tinme this atatement wasg
made? A God knows, the house was full of 'people'_,
& You know some of your neighborsé A No, sir; I
sanrot recollect who was trhere at the present time,
Q Was thers other Ytalian people thereé A There wasg
all kinds.
Q There was a woman over there who was speaking to you
to-day, was she there? A No, she was not there when
it krappened.
@ Are you mar:=isd? A ;es, sir,

Q And live witk your rushand? A Yves, sif.
Q Are you in the hrouse of Detention riowe A No,8ir;

and don't went to be, theve either,

Q
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You are not committed to the house of Detention?
Yo, sir; I never was there and I don''t like to be,
Is that mrll you know? A Yes, sir,

Did you hear anything else saide A No, sir,

Yes, sir; at the time of eouvsze .
Did you see him carried to the amhulance?

Ho, sir; I left before that,

Q

A

Q

Q

Q Was the ambulance rung up?XX ENX Xime
A

Q

A

Q

You left when Rertolino and DBlanchi and the officer
were in tlhe room? A Yes, sif,
Q How reny officers were ithere? A God knows, I don't
know; by watching the room there was only one,
Q But there may have boen twoe there® A Y don't know;
Q Bo you remember the officer who was there?

A No, sir; I cannot recollect,
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Trhe Coroner read to the jury the ante-
mortem statement of CGARRTEY PTRTOAT, TN

whichwas tsken throuph an interpreter,

o0 L e L

VERDLDIOQT We find that the zaid GARRTIEL RBERT-
OLIMG, came to his Death at tie Chambers Street
Hospital, May 26th, 1393, from a pistol srot
wound inflicted at the hands of ANTONTO BIANOHI,

at ¥No. 19 Cherry Street, May 25tk, 1393,
000 =m e e m e

VERDTIOCT: We find that the said TERESE FLISE
RTAMNOMY, came to her Death at Mo, 19 OCrerry étre&t,
New York, Citj, on May 25th, 1823, from a pistol
shot wound inrlictaed af the hands of ANTONIO

RIAMCHI,
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Gowt of General Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

TrE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORE,

against

e -

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

of the Crime oF MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREL, committed as follows:

~

The said W Q» . /
/

late of the City of New York, in County of New York aforesaid, on thM\N\&

day of M — in the year of our Lord one thousand eight huandred and

vinety- mﬂ_ , at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon one
W Q‘M in the peace of the said People then and there being,
wiltully, feloniously and of S« _=m. malice aforethought did make an assault; and the said

Qv\f_(\g”;a W , 2 certain pistol then and there charged and

loaded with gunpowder and one leaden bullet, which said pistol the said O._NXM

W in e right hand then and there had and held,
to, at, against, and upon the saidw € SN _

then and there feloniously, wilfully and of >\:\-_ra' malice aforethought, did shoot off and
discharge, and the said Nt S Se .

with the leadén bullet aforesaid, out of the pistol aforesaid, then and there by force of the

gunpowder aforesaid, shot off, sent forth and discharged, as aforesaid, et the said
W M\; in and upon the Mofw

the saidw W then and there felomiously, wilfully and of

Rerms. malice aforethought, did strike, penetrate and wound, giving to Sl

the saidw W then and there, with the leaden bullet

aforesaid, so as aforesaid clischarged, sent forth and shot out of the pistol aforesaid, by the
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said m—a Q\;\M in and upon the Wf
the said W W—’V\:\) one mortal wound of the breacdth of

one inch, and of the depth of six inches, of which said mortal wound A the

said W& %/\m , at the OCity and County aforesaid,

from the said day of M ., T in the
year aforesaid, until the &\day of W ., in the same year

aforesaid did languish, and languishing did live, on which said Poc SEA .
in the ycar aforesaid, the said W

— at the Oity and County aforesaid, of the said mortal

day of

wound did die. T~

AND SO THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID do say: That the said
S.M ——— <.) - Q » §° = . A———
> S, < VWSS
the said W - in the manner and form, and by
the means aforesaid, wilfully, feloniously and of R malice aforethought, did kill
and murder against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the
peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.
D LANCEY NICOLL, District Attorney.

- pnr s
R ek
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@onvt of General Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tar PEOPLE OF THE STATE oF NEW YORE,

agdainst

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this indictment, accuse

R s R e w

of the CriMeE oF MURDER IN THE FIRST DEGREE, committed as follows :

The said Wﬁ an .

7 -
late of the City of New York, in County of New York aforesaid, on thewg\\sf\\

day of M"‘" in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and

ninety- X.\u,_ , at the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms, in and upon one

S i P < in the peace of the said People then and there being,
»

S S
wilfully, feloniously and of S malice aforethought did make an assault; and the said

WQ L R S, , 8 certain pistol then and there charged and
loaded with gunpowder and ome leaden bullet, which said pistol the said - . PSP

Qéhw in S right hand then and there had and held,

to, at, against, and upon the said S . -, @J\w, —

then and there feloniously, wilfully and of Re—m. malice aforethought, did shoot off and

discharge, and the said Q\,_._’ig..‘:& LS P

with the leaden bullet aforesaid, out of the pistol aforesaid, then and there by force of the
gunpowder aforesaid, shot off, sent forth and discharged, as aforesaid, B me” the said
N acma S 2 e~ in and upon the honaoaX of P~
the saidtmmmn e CRIne &5 ol oo ,then and there felomiously, wilfully and of

. malice aforethought, did strike, penetrate and wound, giving to S~
the said~Nm o o sa. ©Roan. @;M )then and there, with the leaden Dullet

aforesaid, so as aforesaid discharged, sent forth and shot out of the pistol aforesaid, by the




Tl G RS G WAERIR B R

~ ORIGINAL |

said GL,\__—B\/k——\.C___c Q\AM&@ in and upon the DRna o of

the said “Ser oo Sl oo~ one mortal wound of the breadth of

one inch, and of the depth of six inches, of which said mortal wound A the
said S amnaa S rae. Qo e , ab—the—~City—umrd—Countr—aiorosaid,
drorpr—the—said él-&y_,.é- in—the—
yesr—atorcssith—uatil—the e J in—the~samnre—yenr.

S SN
AND S0 THE GRAND JURY AFORESAID do say: That the said
W@ &NM > Rea . -
the said“wm_m @,’\_M;Q,)Q » in the manner and form, and by
the means aforesaid, wilfully, feloniously and of Al malice aforethought, did kill
and murder against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the

pPeace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

De LANCEY NICOLL, District Attorney.

- reeraresacspmis dm me s e
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BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Bradley, Joseph

DATE:
08/17/93

4821
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Police Court—_ ) District.

Wity and Connty lqg . .
of Feto Pork, S o \/%&LL /DW{//(/ o

of No. . Strect, aged LN YA 1S,

occupation / MLL L. e TG AUy S200IN
deposes and says, that the premises No . d:’i (’(/ M /’ 3 Lo mTm e iSE1 0T,

T R
we City and County (gbfr»sa'&l the said being a /rzvﬂr & 7%“[.( _,/)7 4(*/(\

AL 10y LU LA
and which was oce upzed by deponent as c .. %V.Z/L,chti/ Q‘/ﬂ V245 /W/

and in which there was the time “@fj bedngy, 7/'/ name

hh

on the . e day of ( % 4 2in the...

Jollowing property yelondow s7J taken, stolen, and carried away, viz:

/}L—{'_/é,z//CJJ P2 U ﬂ'zf/flt/ /ﬂ/éé

92(,4// //5{///‘-&, Q. %Afézk
j/cuM/ﬁ,,/
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Magistrate,

District.

ON THE COMPLAINT OF

THE PEOPLE, &ec.,

Committed in defaultof $ oo

Witnesses
Dailed by

Police Court e
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Sec. 198—200. istrict ¥olice Court.

v AND COUNT\’)_ s

F NEW YORK,

duly examined before the wunder-
wn(,d/ccmdmn to law, on the annexed Adharge; and bel informed that it is  h 1

malse o statement in velasion to the charge against h 1t the statement is desil
enable h it he sce fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against

that Te isPat liberty to waive muking a statement, and that b \V’?J.V(.,l‘ cannot be used

against on the trial.
Question. AY s your name ?

; / W
Answer. g ' -

Question. How old are you?

Answer. g 4/W

-

Question. Where were you born ?
Answer. ) //Z l//7 <
e
Question. Where do you live, apd how long have you resided thu
Answer.
Question.  What is yquur buysihbss or protession ?
Amnswer.
Qrecstion.  Give any explanation you may thinle proper of the circumstances appearing in the

testimony againgt you, and state any fucts which you thinlk will tend to your
exculpation ?
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1t appearing to me by the within depositions and statements that the crime vherein mentioned has been

cotmmitied, and that tlhere is sufficient cauwse to Lelieve the within named

-
b

Guilty thereof, I order that he be held to answer the same, and he be admitted to bail in the sunv of

- a/ﬁ&/ ITwndred Dollars,...._ and be commitied to the Warden and Kéepgre.of—

the City Prison) c{;/‘/téhe City ofANgw Yorl, until he give such bail. % }/// Q
. - Y /
Datecd / 1.&95 At //"”/) Police Justice.

I Inave admitted the ahove-nanued

to bail to answer by the wendertaking lereto anncxed.

Police Justice.

189

Dated,

There being no sujfficient cause to believe the within named

guilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h to be dischargded,

Police Juwstice.
1881

Dated
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H. BARTHOLOMAE. PAUL GROEBER. FRED. A. YARD.

- 4+ BARTHOLOMAE & (0,

BRANCH OF

NATIONAL WALL PAPER CO.,

> 124 & 126 West 33d St. = Near Broadway.
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praaron

BELLEVUE HOSPITAL.
Wn. B. O’RoURkE, Warden.

PAVILION FOR INSANE.

N
e .. ... 1898

No. ol /. 2emr F2Z AL

DEAR. /¢"’

/2 ) -« /’
Ibegtoinformyoutha.t....(/.»?/.l{:W...?./......................................hasthisday

been transferred to the City Asylum for the Insane on Ward’s Island.

You will find appended the regulations of that Asylum as to visits, &e.

It would be well for you to call upon or write to the Medical Superintendent at your earliest convenience, and
give him such information as you can regarding the patient.

Passes to Ward’s Island may be obtained from Mry. William Blake, Superintendent of Out-Door Poor,

66 Third Avenmue.
Yours, respectfully,

Residel Physician.

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC CHARITIES AND CORRECTION,

New York City Asylum for the Insane, Ward’s Island.

EXTRACTS FROM REGULATIONS.

“The Medical Superintendent shall regulate and determine the times at which patients may be visited by thelr friends; and no viaitor shall be allowed
to see a patient without his consent,”’

‘¢ Friends of patients will be allowed to see them when their condition admits of 1%, but each patient may only be visited once In two weeks, uniess
special permission is given by the Medical Superintendent, on account of the patient’s lllness, or for other suMicient reason.’”

‘¢ Visitors will not be admitted on Sundays, unless by speclal pass from the Commissioners, or special permission of the Medicxl Superintendent.’” and
then only from eleven A. M., to one P. M.

¢ Visitors are expressly forbidden to furnish money, wine, liquor or tohacco to any inmate of tha Asylum, or to deliver to, or raceive from a patient,
any letter, parcel or package, without the knowledge and permission of the Mesdical Superintendent,’”

‘“ No attendant shall receive any perquisite or present from any patlent, or friend of a patiens, or sell to, or buy anything from a patient,””

‘““The Physiclans attached to the Asylum will attend {n the offices at the usuanl visiting hours, and will cheertully and tully answor all questinons
addressed to them, as to the condlition and prospects of the different pationts. Frlemds of Dpatlents are requestod to apply to the Phvsicians tor (nformation,
and not &oﬁhe attendants, who are not qualified to judge of such matters. ZLetlers of inquiry should be addressed to the M lical Superintendent, and will he promptly
answered.

h‘:.Frlends of patients should give notice of any change of residence, in order that they may be notified without delay in the event of the patieni’s
death.

¢ Visits from others than relatives of patients will only be permitted when satisfactory evidence ls presented that such visits have the aanct.on
of the patient’s nearest relative.’’

‘¢ Visits from Committees of Lodges or Benevnlent Socleties, mare with tha view of testing n pationt’s sanity, will on no aceount bs permitted, Tho
Medical Superintendent will certify as to the patient’s condition whenever such certi fication is needed.”

¢ Visitors of all kinds must irstapply at the office of the Medical Superintendeut, and are forbldden to enter the war 18 or other par’ of the Asylum
buildings in any other way.”’

W. A. Maey, M. D.,
Medical Superintendent




Gomet of Grweval Sessions of the Leace

OF THE CITY AND COUXTY OF NEW YORK.

Tuye PEOPLE OF THE STATE OoF NEW YORK

against

{

The Grand Jury of the .City and Couﬂgy of New York, by "this indictment, accuse

The said 2 2 '/’\_ ‘ AT 7
/

7 <
late of the é 1/ h{, Ward of the City of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the
A day of ‘_5,12.%-«_ in the year of our Lord one
thousand eight hundred and ninety- %ﬁ/@@ the‘-ﬂ%z//‘time of the same day, at the

‘Ward, City and County aforesaid, the dwelling house of one <

X
e & Co—2—ae o

there situate, feloniously and burglariously did break into and enter, there being then and there a

human being within the said dwelling house, with intent to commit some cnme therein, to wit: the

goods, chattels and pelsonal property of the said ( /é Pt *(} «és‘é/.z/\—_d‘/—c,

in the said dwelling house then and there being, then and there feloniously and burglariously to steal,

take and carry away,

N

-

against the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the

People of the State of New York and their dignity.




SECOND COUNT—

And the G‘ria,li,d Jury 'Lfo1'e<aid }) this indictment further accuse the said

of the CR h@@ﬁ LAROD\TY B committed as follows :

late of the Waxd, City and County aforesaid, att§rwards, to wit : Qe day and in the year aforesaid,
at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, in the>(,<_7/ // time of the said day, with force and arms,

kﬁw C’/é—c///é/ % e / T

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one @/L/&’\_/—CO‘%—,/&/(/C)-MQ/\
in the dwelling house of the said QQ%M %@\w .

there situate, then and there being found, from the dwelling house aforesaid, then and there felon-
iously did steal, take and carry away, against the form of the statute in such case made and provided,

and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.




THIRD COUNT:

Grand Jury aforesaid; \py this indictment, further accuse the said

of the Cr1 ‘ ING STOLEN GOODS, committed as follows:

The said e . - ) % L‘&‘—«,f(/é/
o S /\\—4.»

late of the Ward, City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in the year afore-

said, at the Ward, City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

of the goods, chattels and personal property of one

by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jury aforesaid unknown, then lately before felon-

jously stolen, taken and carried away from the said

unlawfully and unjustly did feloniously receive and have; the said

then and there well knowing the said goods, chattels and personal property to have been felon-
iously stolen, taken and carried away; against the form of the statute in such case made and

provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

LDistrict Attorney.
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Brady, John

DATE:
08/14/93
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BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Morrow, William

DATE:
08/14/93

4821
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1912

Police Court— Affidavit—Larceny.

ity and Wonnty 7
g POrR, - /L-j// =
of ﬂ”o.,//jj{ %= Strect, aged..................._ﬁ/e/a,rs,

being duly sworn

occupation T T T T
j day of. W&’Q '(12: the City of New
the possessiorn

deposes and says, that on the

C o wnut

Yorlk, in the County of New York, was feloniously taker., ern and carried away fror

time, the following property, viz:

and that this deponent

ncl does syspect, that said property was feloniowsly talen, stolen




Sec. 198—200 - District Police Court.

s:/éﬂé‘)
being duly examined before the under-

§igned according to law, on the a,nn;xgi charge; and being informed that it is h % right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h & ; that the statement is designed to
enable h “~__if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h Y
that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h ‘walver cannot be used

against h N\ on the trial,

Question. What is youyp

Answer.

Question. How old are you?

Answer.

Question. "Where were you
Answer.

Question. Where do you live, and
Answer. Q//
Question. What is your business ox
Answer.

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony agad1ist) you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your




District Police Court.

See. 198—200.

AV A 4 M(; being duly examined before the under-
signed according to law, on the annexed charge; and being informed that it is 115 right to
make a statement in relation to the charge against h ; that the statement is designed to
enable h it he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that e isTat liberty to waive making a statement, and that h5 waiver cannot be used \

against h ‘)n the trial.

Question.

Answer.

Question. How old are you?

Answer, ﬂ%

Question. "Where were you bot

Answer. 7 /

Question. Where do you live,candfow long have you resided there ?

Answer. ,§4/> £ s

Questéion. What is your business or profession %

Answer. /%/&M'V%Wo B}

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances =zppearing in the
testimony Aist you, and state any facts which you think will tend to your

‘JJ”S?Z[ anod
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ARSI e

It appearing to me by the within dz"’ffbsi‘tz’ons and statements thatvihe crime. thereinn mentioned Thas Deen it
R == e e PRC- A

committed, and that there is sufficient cause to believe the within named

-~

.

thereof, I order that he be held to answer ithe same, @' dl Ire be admitted to bail i1 the sum of

ayden and Keeper of

Police Jwstice.

I have have admitted the above-named

to bail to answer by the wndertalking hereto annexed.

189 e Police Justice.

Dated,. ..o e

There being no sufficient cawse to believe the within named

Juwilty of the offense within mentioned, I order b to be dischargded.

Dated, e Police Justice.
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@onrt of Genweral Fessions of the Feace

OF THE CITY AND COUXTY OF NEW YORK.

Toe ProrLE oF THE STATE oF NEW YORE
adgainst
i
el CF
: A

% M 4o )7? e Dt B Pt BT

/7

The Grand Jury of the City and County of New York, by this dndictment, accuse

i G/B;i& cCony T 7/0/5;« o SR )

GRAND LA%‘/ENY in the —<2Cc. e ‘a/’l,'ﬂ\ degree, commgtted as follows :
s Pty i h . Ny
« 7 ) o
b SF bl iy FotK

late of the Gity of New York, in the County of New York aforesaid, on the JZ:/_/C/\_//K

day of /(/L—j//L/(/M in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and
~
ninety- WUQJ , in the /Cﬂ:\/y ‘time of the said day, at the City and County aforesaid,

with force and arms, .
f A C/K,K,Q/7'\/ % /%, \Z/L&(/éc/\/(
7 o Al

<
of the goods, chattels and persona} property of ong )él"/:(/‘f /(A‘(/‘/&’ \/Ké'\j/c/\/_.
on the person of the said )é,-fg/(_/(/o/ //é‘(M\/@//\_/Z—e/\, e — - [

— o

then and there being found, from the 'person/ of the Saidy’%% 2(/ e
e i W e~ ab/:ﬁb\,

.
then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, agahxsj/?he form of the statutp in
such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People of the State of New York

and their dignity. /@ yé/ C/ . M
A e~ s Al

. C—




BOX:
529

FOLDER:
4821

DESCRIPTION:

Brogus, George C.

DATE:
08/16/93

I
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1912

Dlstrl Affidavit—ILarceny.

Police Court—

@ity and County }55
of 3 clg&%ﬂnrh, ' W
0f Noc = % Street, aged...... . / -.years,
/7//

Zzaubd duly sworrn,

W.Q a,b the City of New

deposes and says, that o the
Yorlk, in the County of New York, was feloniously taler, sto%:l carricd awaly from the possession

of deponent, in the: / time, the following property, L/ W

occrpobion

and that this deponent

3 t% property was folonvaus? iy takern, stc)/Z/e;;/
; W 7 //,/ Pt /
oo




AR W CEARIL A K

 ORIGINAL

CITY AND COUNTY ss
OF NEW YORK, :

aged 0: % years, occupation.. of No.
w W ifeet, being d 50y, depos d

says, that he has heard read the foregoing a,ﬁii'{a,v% m - /Zb(__

and that the facts stated therein on infofmfation of deponent are true of deponent’s own

Iknowledge.

—

Stvorn to be% Y} é;/ N 7
" ' /Mss f

Police Justice.

Y
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5 District Police Court.

sl %ﬁ/‘?
y YO%
being duly examined before the under-

signed wﬁdlno to law, on the an charge ; and being informed that it is _h =_pight to
make a statement in relation to (t charge against ; that the statement is designed to
enable h if he see fit to answer the charge and explain the facts alleged against h

that he is at liberty to waive making a statement, and that h <5 waiver cannot be used

against h

Question.

Question.

Answer.

Question.

Answer. <

Question. Where do you live, long have you resided there %
Answer. /éz M égb""‘“/é -
nswer = / % Z,

Question. What is your business-or profession ?

Amnswer. — 2, |

Question. Give any explanation you may think proper of the circumstances appearing in the
testimony agai ou, and state any facts which you think will tend to your
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It appearing to me by the within depositions

committed, and that there is sufficient caug

T &

gzﬁ ereof, I or(hﬁat he/b;/he?d to

Hundred Dollars,

the City Prison of
Q- Police Justice.

I have have admitted the above-named....................__

to bail to answer by the wndertalking hereto annexed.

There being no sufjicient cawse to believe the within nmnec?

-Guilty of the offense within mentioned, I order h  to be discharged.

Police Justice.
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@onxt of Generval Scessions of the Weace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

Tie Prorne or 1Hx STaTe oF NEW Youx

agesinst

/
_, {
& @%}7‘”‘“‘2 )

The Gramnd .:gof the City and Counby «)/f_‘_New Yorlk, by this indictment, aceuse
eSS
ZC é

,(/—V\]]//Q - ) T ND '\-———x\

-

—

of the CrIME or D LARCENY IN THE —Z <. é_..c\—-ﬂr-x/o-( DEGREE, committed
as follows:

The saic , (Z @‘LM A<D
\/(,ag/e - /.—/

s
late of t]wéz’iy of New York, in the Connty of New York aforesaid, on the &/ %
day of R /WW_— in the year of our Lord, one thousand@glz hundred anud
ninety- % , at the City and County aforesaid, with force aud arms,

\4"244/’/’;/0 C//WQ/ s & < /tg 7 %& &Aﬂ/év{i
( / |

7 S S S

N

of the goods. chattels and Dersonal property ol~ene— C ol i - S
) —ed > Y ANy

then and there being found, then and there feloniously did steal, take and carry away, agaiust
the form of the statute in such case made and provided, and against the peace of the People
of the State of New York and their dignity.

T Rpea,




- Re W ViARIE &R

 ORIGINAL

@ourt of Geneval Bessious of the Peace

OF THE CITY AND COUNTY OF NEW YORK.

- A
' Prorni ol 1l STATE oF NEwW Yous |
.50 LILST /

k{é‘m'7/ Ca - R A S}
- =
The Grand Jury-of the City and County of N

i

‘V\~’ AR /'/ 0 . % et ND
- ]f
LCL

of the CRIME < GR D LA INY IN THE «Z €. Q. oo e DEGREE, committed

New Yorlk, by this indictment, aceuse

as follows:

The saic

-~

0
Tate of the-City of New Ywhe County ol New York aforesaid, on the & L//@{

day of in the year of our Lord, one thousand@ig
at the City and County aforesaid, with force aud arms,
Ve

e S C/’L/CQ// > ﬂ,\l - /in % %‘, &”/(/5&
( g

— . . \ - ;,/- o
ﬁ %/} /é; ~/ —C. OQ/ ’ (//(_ Y (_/_,c,{y( ('/\i/a /Z_<_

t hundred and
nlnety-

BN

then and there being found, then and there felonionsly did steal, take and carry away, againsy

the form of the statute in suech case made and provided, aund against the peace of the People
of the Srate of New York and their dignity.




SRS Y VEREak .l' t_1

ORIGINAI.

SECOND COUNT—
AND 11 GR3FD JURY AFORESAID, by this indictment, further accuse the said

e

LY RECEIVING b?}l’ﬂ SN PROPERTY, committed as follows :

e

late of the City and County aforesaid, afterwards, to wit: on the day and in rhe year aforesaid. at

the City and County aforesaid, with force and arms,

%/4/7 e @é/a/f % /é/,l / % W/z‘_/x

7 e

of the goods, chattels and bersonal property of-ene ¢ ec. &l/(jCzcrr_-\_ Cfff\:/-é.zr»\__,_ el

Z L T
%}L gy PPt N g /{ Q//L/‘(—( /‘\/& C A / / m/( C’a\,.-.,\_, ")/.Z(,—:?_.—]ﬁ,y

by a certain person or persons to the Grand Jury aforesaid nnknown, then lately before
feloniously stolen, talen and carried away from the said C/a—/\/w&/é:_d\.\

unlawfully and unju/stl/vlid tfeloniously receive and have ; the said

—

then and there well known” the said goods, chatfels and personal property to have been
feloniously stolen, taken and carried away, against the form of the statute in such case made and
provided, and against the Peace of the People of the State of New York and their dignity.

DE LANCEY NICOLL,

District Atlorney.




